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XII. THE TRIAL COURT'S FAILURE TO INSTRUCT THE JURY THAT 
IT COOU>~.:~,NOT CONSIDER THE APPLICANT'S CONFESSION UNLESS I'l'. FOtJND 

BEY-OND A REASONABLE DOOBT THAT I'l' WAS VOLUNTARILY MADE 

FINDINGS OF PACT 

1. Pursuant to the Supreme Court's holding in Jackson v. 
Denno, 378 U.S. 368 (1964), the trial court conducted an extensive 
hearing outside of the presence of the jury to determine whether 
or not the Applicant's written statement was admissible in 
evidence. · 

~· 2. Pursuant to the Court of Criminal Appeals' decision in 
McKittrick v. State, 535 S.W.2d 873 (Tex.Crim.App. 1976), the 
trial court filed findings of fact and conclusions of law in which 
it concluded that the Applicant's written statement had been 
freely and voluntarily made. 

3. The court finds that although the Applicant's written 
statement ~as admitted in evidence over defense counsel's 
objections, no evidence was introduced before the jury that the 
Applicant's written statement was not voluntary. 

4. At the conclusion of the guilt or innocence stage of 
the Applicant's. trial, defense counsel did not request that the 
trial court instruct the jury that they could not consider the 
Applicant's written statement unless the found beyond a reasonable 
doubt that the statement had been voluntarily made. 

CONCLUSIONS OF LAW 

l. Because defense counsel failed to request that the 
trial court instruct the jury that they could not consider the 
Applicant's written statement unless they found beyond a 
reasonable doubt that it had been voluntarily made, the Applicant 
is procedurally barred from advancing- this contention. Ex parte 
Coleman, supra. 

2. Evidence presented by the State in anticipation of an 
attack on the' voluntariness of a confession does not place the 
voluntarine'ss of that confession into issue. Moseley v. State. 
696 S.W£$d~l34 (Tex.App.--Dallas,, 1985) •· 

3~ Regardless of defense counsel's procedural default, the 
Court concludes that the Applicant was not entitled to a jury 
instruct~On pursuant to Article 38.22, Section 6, V.A.c.c.P., as 
to whether. or not his written statement had been voluntarily made 
inasmuch as the Applicant presented no evidence before the jury as 
that his written statement had been involuntarily obtained so as 

83 



This document is housed in the Capital Punishment Clemency Petitions (APAP-214) collection in the M.E. Grenander 
Department of Special Collections and Archives, University Libraries, University at Albany, SUNY. 
 
 
 

.___l L 
I 
L 

I 
L 

I 
~ j -, I..-

L 
I 
'--

I 
L 

! 
i 
L.., 

: 
l 

i 
'-' 

\......_. 

'--

~ 

-----l 

' ---' 
\ 
\ 

'--

'-'\ '--

~.J 

) 
~ \ 

t -·-· 

----- \..:._ 

C250 

C251 

F374 

F375 

F376 

C252 

C253 

to properly raise this issue for the jury's consideration White 
v. State, 779 S.W.2d 809 (Tex.Crim.App. 1989). • 

'~\~-~~'-In seeking habeas corpus relief, the Applicant assumes 
the burden of proving his factual allegations by a preponderance 
of the evidence. Ex parte Castaneda, supra. 

s. ~ecause the Applicant has not demonstrated by a 
preponderance of the evidence that he was entitled to a jury 
charge instructing the· jury that they could not consider the 
Applicant's written statement unless they found beyond a 
reasonable doubt that the statement had been voluntarily made, the 
Court recommends that habeas corpus relief as to this ground be 
DENIED. 

·,;, 

XIII. THE UNCONSTITUTIONALITY OF 'l'HE SYSTEM FOR THE APPOINTMENT 
OF COUNSEL FOR INDIGENT DEFENDANTS IN HARRIS COUNTY 

FINDINGS OF FACT 

1. The system for the appointment of counsel for indigent 
defendants in Harris County pursuant to Article 26.04, V.A.c.c.P., 
did not impose any uniform minimum standards of competency for 
appointed· counsel and did not impose any restrictions on the 
volume of cases appointed counsel could handle. 

2. Because the s~·stem for the appointment of counsel for 
indigent defendants in Harris County is largely, if not 
exclusively an arbitrary decision and unreviewable decision made by 
each of the individual criminal cistrict judges, the quality of 
appointed trial counsel in capital murder cases is a function of 
whatever district court to which the case is assigned at random. 

3. At the time of the Applicant's trial, defense counsel 
were compensated only for actual court appearances and were not 
directly compensated for out-of-c6urt time devoted to activities 
such as factual investigation of · the case, legal research 
regarding the controlling issues, or consultation with experts. 

CONCLUSIONS OF LAW 

l,_ •. ~-~- Where. a defendant seeks to challenge the 
constitU-tlcnality of a statute, ·he assumes the ··burden of 
demonstrating how he, in particular, has been harmed by the 
statute. · Clark v. State, 665 S.W.2d 476 (Tex.Crim.App. 1984). 

2. · In a post-conviction writ proceeding where the 
applicant seeks habeas corpus relief, neither the trial court nor 
the Court of Criminal Appeals is authorized to enter a declaratory 
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judgment, but may only inquire into 
applicant's restraint or confinement. 
S.W.2d -?:5~h:: {Tex.Crim.App. 1954) •. 

the legality of 
Ex parte Herring, 

the 
271 

3. While many things about the system of appointing 
counsel for indigent defendants in capital murder cases in Harris 
County may be in need of chang_e, the Court concludes that the 
relief which the Applica~t seeks must be sought in·a civil rights 
suit, see Preisser v. Rodriguez, 411 U.S. 475 (1973), and not in a 
post-conviction writ proceeding such as this. See Ex parte 
Brager, 704 S.W.2d 46 (Tex.Crim.App. 1986). ~ 

4. In seeking habeas corpus relief, the Applicant assumes 
the bµrden of proving his factual allegations by a preponderance 
of the evidence. Ex parte Salinas, supra. 

5. Because the Applicant has failed to demonstrate by a 
preponderance of the evidence that the alleged unconstitutionality 
of the system by which counsel for indigent defendants in Harris 
County are appointed is a claim upon which habeas corpus relief 
may be granted, the Court recommends that habeas corpus relief as 
to this ground be DENIED. 

XIV. THE CONDUCT OP LEAD DEFENSE COUNSEL RON HOCK 

FINDINGS OF PACT 

l. During the jury select ion phase of the Applicant's 
trial, Ron Mock, lead defense counsel, was arrested on a contempt 
of court citation for failing to timely file an appellate brief in 
a capital case other than the Applicant's. 

2. During his final argument to the jury during the 
punishment stage of the Applicant's trial, Mock acknowledged· to 
the jury that the reason that the proceedings were late in getting 
started ~as because of his tardiness •. 

3. At the evidentiary hearing held in this case, Mock 
admitted that ·'he had been cited by appellate courts some five 
times for fail~ng to timely file briefs in the time frame before, 
during, and immediately af·ter his representation of the Applicant 
in the ~£~11rary case."_ . 

4; Mock attributed this to the large volume of cases that 
he handled during this time frame as well as to the axiom that 
"shit lsicJ happens.• 
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CONCLUSIONS OP LAW 

f~~-~-:~::. While Mock' s conduct as set forth above· is certainly 
something less than professional and deserving of condemnation, 
the Court nonetheless concludes that it does not rise to that 
level of conduct which prejudiced the Applicant's defense. 
Strickland v. ,Washington, supra. 

2. In seek~ng h~beas corpus relief, the Applicant assumes 
the burden of proving his factual allegations by a preponderance . 
of the evidence. Ex parte Salinas, supra. · 

.; 3. Because the Applicant has failed to demonstrate by a 
preporiderance of the evidence that Mock's conduct as set forth 
above denied him the effective assistance of counsel at his trial 
in the primary case, the Court recommends that habeas corpus 
relief as to this ground be DENIED. 

XV. THE PROSECUTOR'S EQUATION OF THE MEANING OP •DELIBERATE• 
WITH THE MEANING OF •INTENTIONAL• DORING HIS FINAL ARGUMENT 

IN THE PUNISHMENT STAGE OF THE PRIMARY CASE 

FINDINGS OF PACT 

1. During his final argument in the punishment stage of 
the Applicant's trial in the primary case, the prosecutor argued 

.to the jury that, "In Special Issue No. 1, we have to show, in 
addition to showing that the defendant acted intentionally, we 
have to show you that he acted deliberately." 

2. The prosecutor also argued to the jury that, "That's 
the first bit of evidence that shows you he acted deliberately. 
We already know he acted intentionally." 

3. The prosecutor also argued to the jury that, "What does· 
that tell you about the chances that he intended for Hall to have? 
He intended for Hall to have no chance. He intended for Hall to 
die ••• Even if there is a possibility that you have a problem with 
deliberate bas~d on that evidence by itself, we went beyond that.• 

' 
4. _ _,~Defense c.ounsel did not object to any of the foregoing 

- final af-S~uin·ent vo1ced by the ·prosecutor. 

CONCLUSIONS OF LAW 

1. To the extent that defense counsel failed to 
the prosecutor's final argument as set forth above, the 
is procedurally barred from advancing this contention. 
State, supra. 784 S.W.2d 5 (~ex.Crim.App. 1989). 
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2. Notwithstanding defense counsel's failure to object to 
the prosecutor's final argument, the Court concludes that this 
argumer;it.c:'~:-wa_s proper. inasmuch a.s it constituted a reasonable 
deduction from the evidence. BorJan v. State, supra. 

3. Because the prosecutor's argument was a reasonable 
deduction from the evidence and not an attempt to impermissibly 
equate a jury 'finding of "intentional" in the guilt or innocence 
stage of the trial with a finding of "deliberate" insofar as the 
first special issue submitted during the punishment is concerned, 
the Court concludes that the case at bar is distinguishable on its 
facts from Lane v. State, 743 S.W.2d 617 (Tex.Crim.App. 1987). 

~"4. In view of the fact that the prosecutorial argument 
alluded to above was a reasonable deduction from the evidence, the 
Court concludes that defense counsel's failure to object to it did 
not constitute deficient performance. Stafford v. State, supra. 

5. Because defense counsel's failure to object to the 
prosecutor's argument as set forth above was not deficient 
performance, the Court concludes that it need not determine 
whether trial counsel's conduct prejudiced the Applicant's 
defense. Strickland v. Washington, supra. 

6. In seeking habeas corpus relief, the Applicant assumes 
the burden of proving his factual allegations by a preponderance 
of the evidence. Ex parte Salinas, supra. 

7. Because the Applicant has not demonstrated by a 
preponderance of the evidence either that the prosecutorial 
argument alluded to above impermissibly equated the meaning of 
"ir.tentional" with the meaning of "deliberate," or that defense 
counsel's failure to object to this argument denied him the 
effective assistance of counsel, the Court recommends that habeas 
corpus relief.as to this ground be DENIED. 

XVI. OTHER PURPORTED FAILINGS OF DEFENSE COUNSEL 
DURING THE JURY SELECTION PROCESS 

,· 
A. DEFENSE' COUNSEL'S FAILURE TO INQUIRE OF THE PANELISTS 

WHETHER THE DECEDENT'S RACE WOULD AFFECT THEIR IMPARTIALI'l'Y 
~:;>:~:=:; AT EITHER STAGE OF THE APPLICANT 1 S TRIAL 

FINDINGS OF FACT 

1. During the jury selection stage of the Applicant's 
trial in ·the primary case, defense counsel did not attempt to 
ascertain if the decedent's race would affect the veniremembers' 
ability to be fair and imp,rtial at either stage of the 
proceedings. 
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2. Lead defense counsel Ron Mock explained that he did not 
engage '="i?;<~-::this type of inquiry as a result of his trial strategy 
never to use the "black man killing a white man tactic." 

3. Mock acknowledged, however, that depending upon the 
facts and circumstances of a particular case, he might opt to use 
this tactic. 

CONCLUSIONS OP LAW 

l. The United States Supreme Court has held that the a 
capit~l murder defendant accused of an interracial crime is 
entitled to have the prospective jurors informed of the race of 
the victim and questioned on the issue of whether this fact will 
affect their ability to be fair and impartial at either stage of 
the proceedings. Turner v. Murray, 476 U.S. 28 (1986). 

2. While it might have been prudent for defense counsel to 
have inquired of the venirernernbers whether the decedent's race 
would have affected their ability to be fair and impartial, the 
Court concludes that defense counsel's failure to engage in this 
inquire did not fall outside of the wide range of reasonable 
professional assistance so as to constitute deficient performance. 
Strickland v. Washington, suprar Stafford v. State, supra. 

3. ln seeking habeas corpus relief, the Applicant assumes 
the burden of proving his factual allegations by a preponderance 
of the evidence. Ex parte Alexander, supra. 

4. Because the Applicant has not demonstrated by a 
preponderance of the evidence that defense rounsel 's failure to 
inq'4ire of the veniremernbers \o;hether the race of the decedent 
would affect their ability to be fair and impartial denied him the 
effective assistance of counsel, the Court recommends that habeas 

. corpus relief as to this ground be DENIED. 

B. DEFENSE; COUNSEL'S FAILURE TO OBJECT TO THE PROSECUTOR'S 
EQ~ATION OF •DELIBERATE" AND •INTENTIONAL• 

FINDINGS OP FACT 

; le. During the voir examination of venirernernber Kraus, who 
was eventually selected to sit on the jury, the prosecutor stated 
without objection from defense counsel that the first special 
issue tha~ asked whether the defendant.has acted "deliberatel~,• 
essentially "[A] sks you the same thing you have answered during 
the trial of the guilt-or-innocence stage." 
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~-·---- During the voir dire examination of veniremember 
Farrell;-:c'-Wbo was eventually sat on the jury, defense counsel did 
not objec_l:_ when the prosecutor defined "deliberate" as a "greater 
conscious intent." 

3. The Court finds that no sound trial strategy could have 
been served given defense counsel's failure to -object to the 
prosecutor's misstatement of the law. 

CONCLUSIONS OP LAW 

l. The Court concludes that defense counsel's failure to 
object' to the prosecutor's equation of "deliberate" with 
"intentional" was neither the result of reasonable professional 
judgment nor a rational tactical decision and that defense 
counsel's performance in this instance fell below an objective 
standard of reasonableness. Black v. State, supra. 

2. In light of the evidence adduced as to the Applicant's 
deliberateness at both stages of the trial, the fact that the 
prosecution did not argue in the punishment stage of the trial to 
the jury that "deliberate" and !'intentional" were synonymous, and 
that the· trial court correctly charged the jury on the law 
applicable to the facts of the case, the Court concludes that the 
Applicant has failed to show that but for trial counsel's failure 
to object as set forth above, the jury would have answered the 
first special issue in the negative. Black v~ State, supra1 
Motley v. State, 773 S.W.2d 283 (Tex.Crim.App. 1989). 

3. In seeking habeas corpus relief, the Applicant assumes 
the burden of proving his factual allegations by a preponderance 
of the ev:dence. Ex parte Alexander, supra. 

4. Because the Applicant has not de~onstrated by a 
preponderance of the evidence that defense counsel's failure to 
object to the prosecutor's equation of "deliberate" and 
"intentional" denied him the effective assistance of counsel, the 
Court reconunends that habeas corpus relief as to this ground be 
DENIED. -,, 

~~~-DEFENSE COUNSEL'S STATEMENTS TO VENIREMEMBERS 
THAT A KILLING COULD NEVER BE REASONABLE 

FINDINGS OF FACT 

l~ In explaining the third special issue to prospective 
jurors, defense counsel stated on several occasions that he did 
not think that a killing could ever be reasonable. 
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~'~~-<pefense counsel noted ~hat his strategy in making these 
comments=:~~'~ that J:e wanted th7 :iurors to find him credible and, 
by association to find the Applicant credible. 

CONCLUSIONS OP LAW 
• 

l. Given the broad presumption that defense counsel 
rendered reasonable professional assistance, Duncan v. State 717 
S.W.2d 345 (Tex.Crim.App. 1986), the Court concludes that it 
~annot use hindsight to second guess a tactical decision made by a 
trial attorney that does not fall below an objective standard of 
reason.ableness. Butler v. State, 718 S.W.2d 48 (Tex.Crim.App. 
1986):' 

2. While defense counsel's strategy in informing 
prospective jurors in a capital case that he did not believe, 
within the meaning of the third special issue, that a killing 
could ever be reasonable, might involve a calculated risk, cf. 
Hernandez v. State, 726 S.W.2d 53 (Tex.Crim.App. 1986), the Court 
concludes that it nonetheless did not fall below an objective 
standard of reasonableness. Derrick v. State, 773 s.W.2d 271 
(Tex.Crim.App. 1989). 

3. !n seeking habeas corpus relief, the Applicant assumes 
the burden of proving his factual allegations by a preponderance 
of the evidence. Ex parte Alexander, supra. 

4. Because the Applicant has not demonstrated by a 
preponderance of the evidence that defense counsel's statements 
that he did not believe that a killing could never be reasonable 
denied h:m the effective assistar.ce of counsel, the Court 
recommends that habeas corpus relief as to this ground be DENIED. 

D. DEFENSE COUNSEL'S FAILURE TO OBJECT 
TO THE PROSECUTOR'S DEFINITION OF •PROBABILITY• 

FINDINGS OF FACT 
I 

1. During his voir dire examination of veniremerrber 
Goodner,_ __ w_ho eventua_lly sat on the jury, the prosecutor defined 

· "probab:H'i=t:-y" · without objection from defense counsel as "more 
likely th~n,not ••• odds are ••• a fifty-one percent chance.• 

2. During his voir dire examination of veniremember 
Farrel, who also sat on the jury, the prosecutor stated without 
objection from defense counsel that the State could prove future 
dangerousness by showing that the Applicant had a "propensity" for 
committing violent crimes. 
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CONCLUSIONS OP LAW 

1. -·--The Court of Crimial Appeals has consistently held that 
because the term "probability" does not have a statutory 
definition, it is to be taken and understood in its usual 
accepta~ce in ,common language. Williams v. State, 674 s.w.2d 315 
(Tex.Crim.App. 1984). . · 

2. The Court of Criminal Appeals has alluded to the 
definition of "probability" from Black's Law .Dictionary as 
including: "likelihood1 reasonable ground of presmption1 a 
condition or state when there is more evidence in favor of the 
existe~ce of a given proposition than there is against it.• 
CUevas v. State, 742 S.W.2d 331 (Tex.Crim.App. 1987). 

3. In light of the def inti on of "probability" sanctioned 
by the Court of Criminal Appeals in CUevas v. State, supra, the 
Applicant could not have been prejudicea by the prosecutor's 
definition of "probability" and defense counsel was not derelict 
in failing to object to the prosecutor's comments. Motley v. 
State, supra1 Stafford v. State, supra. 

4. · In seeking habeas corpus relief, the Applicant assumes 
the burden of proving his factual allegations by a preponderance 
of the evidence. Ex parte Salinas, supra. 

S. Because the Applicant has not demonstrated by a 
preponderance of the evidence that that defense counsel's failure 
to object to the prosecutor's definition of "probability" denied 
him the effective assistance. of counsel, the Court recommends that 
habeas co=pus relief as to this ground be DENIED. 

E. DEFENSE COUNSEL'S FAILURE TO OBJECT TO THE 
PROSECUTOR'S MISSTATEMENT CONCERNING THE LA~ OP PARTIES 

FINDINGS OP FACT 

l. Dur+ng his voir dire exarr.ination of veniremember Evans, 
who did no.t serve on the jury, the prosecutor pointed out that the 
law of P?r~Jes did not apply at the punishment stage of the trial 
and couluo"~oot be used to answer the three special ·issues. 

2. ·The prosecutor told Evans that if the State used the 
law of parties to convict the Applicant, she could not answer the 
three spe~ial issues in the affirmative unless. "[~]he .state 
presented evidence that showed that those three special issues 
should be answered yes ••• " 
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CONCLUSIONS OF LAW 

1. The Court concludes, contrary to the Applicant'• 
assertion, that the prosecutor's comments correctly explained the 
operation of the law of parties and how this principle could not 
be used during the punishment stage in answering the three special 
issues. Green v. State, supra: Nichols v. State, supra. 

2. Because 
operation of the law 
law, defense counsel 
pros~~utor's remarks. 

the prosecutor's explanation as to the 
of parties was a correct statement·of the 
had no duty to voice an objection to the 
Stafford v. State, supra. 

3. In seeking habeas corpus relief, the Applicant assumes 
the burden of proving his factual allegations by a preponderance 
of the evidence. Ex parte Maldonado, supra. 

4. Because the Applicant has not demonstrated by a 
preponderance of the evidence that defense counsel had a duty to 
object to the prosecutor's explanation as to the operation of the 
law of parties, the Court recommends that habeas corpus relief as 
to this ground be DENIED. 

F. DEFENSE COUNSEL'S "CURSORY• REHABILITATION 
OF VENIREMEMBER LOUIS MCDANIELS 

FINDINGS OF FACT 

1. During the State's voir dire examination of 
venirerr.ernber Louis McDaniels, McDaniels stated that he would be 
unable to "take an oath and part ic ipa te" in a capital murder 
trial or otherwise render a true and impartial verdict. 

2. After the State challenged· Daniels for cause, Daniels 
told defense counsel that he could not make a fair and impartial 
determination of guilt or innocence in a capital case and that his 
feelings about the death penalty would substantially impair his 
ability to abide by his oath to be a fair and impartial juror. 

""-3~_..:-:..>At the conclusion of defense counsel's examination, the 
trial court granted the· State's challenge for cause to Daniels. 

CONCLUSIONS OF LAW 

1. It is clear that the State may challenge for cause a 
prospective juror who makes it clear that their views about 
capital punishment will prevent or substantially impair the 

. performance of their duties as a juror in accordance with their 
instructions and oath. Adams v. Texas, 448 o.s. 38 (1980). 
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2. Consistent with this notion, veniremember McDaniels 
made i~,'-"'l,1,runistakably clear during both the state• 6 as well as 

·defense-·c-.oimsel's voir dire examination that his views on capital 
punishment were such that the State's challenge for cause was well 
founded. Briddle v. State, 742 S.W.2d 379 (Tex.Crim.App. 1979). 

3. In view of McDaniels' clear and unambiguous feelings 
about the death penalty, defense counsel's tactical decision to 
forego any prolonged attempt at rehabilitating the veniremember 
did not fall below an objective standard of reasonableness. 
Derrick v. State, supra. 

·,;t 4. 
prolonged 
deficient 
determine 
Applicant. 

Because defense counsel's decision to forego 
attempt at rehabilitating Veniremember McDaniels was 
performance, the Court concludes that it need 
whether defense counsel's conduct prejudiced 
Motley v. State, supra. 

any 
not 
not 
the 

s. In seeking habeas corpus relief, the Applicant assumes 
the burden of proving his factual allegations by a preponderance 
of the evidence. Ex parte Alexander, supra. 

6.- Because the Applicant has not demonstrated by a 
preponderance of the evidence that defense counsel's "cursory• 
rehabilitation of venirernember McDaniels denied him the effective 
assistance of counsel, the Court recommends that habeas corpus 
relief as to this ground be DENIED. 

G. DEFENSE COUNSEL'S FAILURE TO OBJECT TO THE 
PROSECUTOR'S "TRIVIAL EXAMPLE" OP A DELIBERATE ACT 

FINDINGS OF PACT 

l. During his examination of a number of veniremembers 
· including John Olden, who was eventually seated on the jury, the 
prosecutor attempted_ to characterize the difference between 
11 intentionally" and "deliberately," which the prosecutor noted 
"mean[t] just~ little bit more than intentionally," by using the 
example of a v~niremember being bitten an insect. 

" a~.;;:~'."without. objection from defense counsel, the prosecutor 
characterfted a veniremember immediately striking an insect that 
was biting, them on the arm as engaging in an "intentional" act 
while characterizing a veniremember who felt another insect biting 
them on the leg and who drew back their hand, took aim, and then 
smashed ·the insect as engaging in a "deliberate" act, an act 
encompassing a "more conscious intent" than merely an 
"intentional" act. 
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CONCLUSIONS OP LAW 

l. Regardless of the purportedly "trivial" example the 
prosecutor utilized to explain the distinction between an 
"intentional" act and a "deliberate" act, the Court concludes that 
the prosecutor's example was an essentially correct statement of 
the law in that it_ apprised the veniremembers that a finding that 
the two words were not "linguistic equivalents.• Heckert v. 
State, 6123 S.W.2d 549 (Tex.Crim.App. 1981). 

2. The Court also concludes that the prosecutor's example 
was e~sentially a correct statement of the law that made it clear 
that a veniremember•s finding.that act was "deliberate• required 
more than just a ratification of their earlier finding that an act 
was "intentional." James v. State, 772 S.W.2d 84 (Tex.Crim.App. 
1989). 

3. The Court concludes that while the -prosecutor's example 
of distinguishing betweeen "deliberate" and "intentional" conduct 
may ·indeed have been trivial, defense counsel's tactical decision 
not to object to the use of this example did not fall below an 
objective.standard of reasonableness. Derrick v. State, supra. 

4. Because defense counsel's decision not to object to the 
prosecutor's exarr.ple was· not deficient performance, the Court 
concludes that it need not determine whether defense counsel's 
conduct prejudiced the Applicant. Motley v. State, supra. 

S. In seeking habeas corpus relief, the Applicant assumes 
the burden of proving his factual allegations by a preponderance 
of the evidence. Ex parte Salinas, supra. 

6. Because the Applicant has not demonstrated by a 
preponderance of the evidence that defense counsel's failure to 
object to the prosecutor's "trivial example" of a deliberate act 
denied him the effective assistance of counsel, the Court 
concludes that habeas corpus relief as to this ground be DENIED. 

H. DEFENSE COUNSEL'S FAILURE TO OBJECT TO THE 
PROSECUTOR'S COMMENT REGARDING INCOMPLETE CONFESSIONS 

=~~.-:-::~-- / 
FINDINGS OF FAC'l' 

l •. During his voir dire examination of veniremember Glen 
Herron, who was eventually seated on the jury, the prosecutor 
described his right to use an incomplete confession in which he 
was able to omit those portions that were inconsistent with his 
theory of the case. 
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2. The prosecutor then informed Herron without objection 
from deJ:en$e c~unsel that, "[I] f tf1e defense wants to, they can 
offer the··-rernainder of the confession into evidence because they 
may say, well, we believe that portion of the confession.• 

3. The prosecutor then secured a commitment from Herron 
that he would 'not hold it against either the State or the defense 
if either side opted not to introduce the entire confession. 

CONCLUSIONS OP LAW 

l. The Court concludes that the prosecutor's comments that 
the State is allowed to introduce part of a statement or 
confession and that the defendant, if he wishes, may then 
introduce the remainder of the statement of confession, was an 
essentially correct statement of the law. Adams v. State, 685 
S.W.2d 661 (Tex.Crim.App. 1985). 

' 

3. In view of the fact that the jury ~as charged at both 
stages of the trial that the burden of proof was on the State and 
never shifted to the defense, even if defense counsel's failure to 
object to the prosecutor's comment could be viewed as deficient 
performance, the Court concludes that the Applicant was not 
prejudiced as a result of this conduct. Black v. State, supra. 

4. In seeking habeas corpus relief, the Applicant ~ssumes 
the burden of proving his factual allegations by a preponderance 
of the evidence. Ex parte Salinas, supra. 

s. Because the Applicant has not demonstrated by a 
preponderance bf the evidence that defense counsel's failure to 
object to the ~prosecutor's comments regarding the introduction of 
the rerr.ainder of a confession denied him the effective assistance 
of coun:E!.~t"i:· the Court t:ecommends that habeas corpus relief as to 
this gro~nds be DENIED. 
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XVII. CONCLUSION 

In concluding that the Applicant was denied the effective 

assistance of' counsel, this Court is not unmindful of the fact 

that the right to counsel as embodied in both the Sixth Amendment 

ot the United States Constitution and Article I, Section 10 of the 

Texas ~·cons ti tut ion, does not mean errorless counsel or counsel 

whose competency or adequacy is to be judged by hindsight. Mercado 

v. State, 615 s.W.2d 225 (Tex.Crim.App. 1981). Nor is this Court 

unaware that the adequacy of an attorney's services.must be gauged 

by the totality of the representation, Ex parte Raborn, 658 S.W.2d 

602 (Tex.Crim.App. 1983), rather· than by isolated acts or 

omissions of trial counsel. Wjlkerson v State, 726 S.W.2d 542 

(Tex.Crim.App. 1986) • 

Because the fact that another attorney might have pursued 

a different course of action at trial will not in and itself 

support a finding of ineffectiveness, Passmore v. State, 617 

... S.W.2d 682 (Tex.Crim.App. 1981), this Court has carefully heeded 

the admonition of the United States Supreme Court that: 

"A f;air assessment of attorney performance 
requl.res that every effort be made to 

"· _j!_liminate the distortir.g effects of hindsight, 
- :~~~:::t'o ·reconstruct the circumstances of counsel's 

. challenged conduct, and to evaluate the 
·conduct from counsel's perspective at the time 
of trial." 

Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668, 689 (1984). 
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But a careful reading of this record readily reveals that 

in those'>fJistances when this Court has found that trial counsel •s 

performance deficient, it was only because trial counsel was 

either unable .to articulate any trial strategy at all for their 

conduct, !.!! Ex parte Duffy, 607 S.W.2d 507 (Tex.Crim.App. 1980), 

or because their self-professed trial strategy was so far beyond 

the pa~e that it did not fall within "the wide range of reasonable 

professional assistance." Strickland v. Washington, supra, at 

690. While appellate courts should not be free· to second-guess 

trial strategy that does not fall outside of this professional 

norm, Motley v. State, 773 S.W.2d 283 (Tex.Crim.App. 1989), 

neither can trial counsel insulate their otherwise unprofessional 

conduct from appellate review by blithely denominating it as a 

"strategic, albeit inane, trial tactic." Lyons v. Mccotter, 770 

F.2d 529, 533 (Sth Cir. 1985). 

In reviewing this record, this Court has not only taken 

great care to consider the totality of the representation afforded 

the Applicant but the totality of the evidence before the jury at 

both stages of_ the trial ·as "a verdict or conclusion only weakly 

supported by the record is more likely to have been affected by 

errors than one with overwhelming record support.• Ex parte 

GUzmon, :;-.::_::7¥-0 s.W.2d 724, 734 {Tex.Crim.App. 1987) I quoting 

Strickland v. Washington, supra, at 696. It is precisely because 

the eviden.ce at the Applicant• s trial as to whether or not he 

fired the fatal shot was not overwhelming that a reasonable 
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probabilty exists that trial counsel's deficiencies at the very 

least af1~~~ed the outcome of the punishment stage of the 

Applicant's trial. Ex parte Guzmon, suprar Ex parte Walker, 777 

S.W.2d 427 (Tex.Crim.App. 1989)1 Ex parte Welborn, 785 S.W.2d 391 

(Tex.Crim.App. 1990). 

While this Court's review and ultimate disposition of the 

issue of whether the Applicant was afforded the effective •• 
assistance of counsel has been guided by a faithful adherence to 

both the law and the record, the ultimate focus of its inquiry, 

1 ike the ultimate aim of the criminal justice system itself, has 

.been -fundamental fairness. Ex parte Adams, 768 S.W.2d 281, 293 

(Tex.Crim.App. 1989). As the Court of Criminal Appeals has only 

recently reaffirmed: 

"Due process of law is the cornerstone of a 
civilized system of justice. Our society wins 
not only when the guilty are convicted but 
when criminal trials are · fair1 our system of 
justice suffers when an accused is treated 
unfairly." 

Ex parte Brandley, 781 S.W.2d 886, 894 (Tex.Crim.App. 1989). 

And throughout every phase of this post-conviction 

proceeding, the Court has taken great pains to heed the words of 
··; 

Mr. Justice Fra~nkfurter that: 

,'-:~~o'r_he nature- of the duty of [judicial review] 
_.,._.rilaxes it especially important to be humble in 
·exercising it. Humility in this context means 
an alert self-scrutiny so as to avoid infusing 
into the vagueness of a Constitutional conunand 

. one's merely private notions.• 

Haley v. Ohio, 332 u.s. 596, 602 (1948): 
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In discharging its duty in this case, the Court •s only 

concern is-· that the conclusion that it reaches and the 

recommendation that it makes be corrE'ct and that it b!_in keeping 

With the dUE' administration Of the law and the preservation Of 

life and liberty, as guaranteed by the Fourteenth Amendment to the 

United States Constitution and Article I, Section 19 of the 

Constitution of the State of Texas. £!.:. Purcell v. State, 322 

S.W.2d 268, 278 (Tex.Crim.App. 1958) (Davidson, J., concurring). 

Although this Court does not have the power to grant final 

relief to the Applicant pursuant to Article 11.07, V.A.c.c.P., ~ 

parte Williams, 561 S.W.2d l (Tex.Crim.App. 1978), it does have 

the power to rE'cornrnend to the Court of Criminal Appeals that there 

has been a brPakdown in the adversarial process sufficient to 

undermine confidence in the outcome of these proceedings, Ex parte 

Guzmon, supra, at 735, and this Court so recommends. 

XVIII. ORDER 

Having considered the Pvidence and exhibits offered by the 

parties and in light of the forego.ing Findings of Fact and 

Conclusions of Law, it is the opinion of the Special Master that 
·~;: 

the relief prayed for by the Applicant in this case be GRANTED. 

O'O:Ni:i and ENTERED .this · 2nd day of October, 1991. 

,/ 
.· 

. THE HONORABLE BiIAN W. WICE 
'·"-SPEg.A't ?-l.AST~R . 

3nth CRI1?1Ilf"L DISTRICT COURT 
HARRIS COTWTY, TEXAS 
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ORDER 

On this 14th day of October, 1991, having___!'.eviewed the 

above and foregoing Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law, the 

Court hereby adopts same and recommends to the Texas Court of 

Criminal AppE>als that the relief - prayed for in this case be 

GRANTED, and that the Applicant be afforded a new trial. 

It is further ORDERED that the Clerk prepare a transcript 

of all papers filed in this cause and transmit same to the Court 

of Crimir.al Appeals as provided for by Article 11.07, V.A.C.C.P., 

consisting of the following documents: 

-1. all of the Applicant's pleadings filed in 
cause no. 401695-A, including his Petition for 
Writ of Habeas Corpus and his Ar.aended Petition 
for Writ of Habeas Corpus; 

2. the Respondent's Original Answer in cause 
no. 401695-Ai 

3. these Findings of Fact and Conclusions of 
law prepared by the Special Master and hereby 
ad6ptE"d by this Court; 

4. any Proposed Findings of Fact and 
Conclusions of law submitt~d by either the 
Applicant or the Respondent; 

5. ;·the Order of this Court appointing BRIAN 
W:. WICE as the Special Master in this cause1 

:"';-~~:o:-~~. the nine .volumes, including exhibits, of 
the statement of facts from the evidentiary 
hearing held in cause no. 401695-AJ 

7. the appellate record in State of Texas vs. 
John Dale Henry, cause no. 405136, unlE>ss it 
had been previously forward~d to the Court of_ 
Criminal Appeals1 
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"""•_,-a., the clerk's transcript and statement of 
- --facts in cause no. 401695, the primary case, 

unless it has been previously forwarded to the 
Court of Criminal Appeals; and ~ 

9. the sealed State's 
voir dire, in cause no. 
case. 

file, excluding the 
401695, the primary 

It is further ORDERED that copies of these Findings of 

Fact, Conclusions of Law, and Order of the Court be served on 

Counsel for the Applicant, Barry Abrams, and Counsel for the 

Respondent, and Roe Wilson, in open court on the 

October, 1991. 14th day Of 

101 

THE HONORABLE RD 
Presiding Judge 
339th Criminal District Court 
Harris County, Texas 



This document is housed in the Capital Punishment Clemency Petitions (APAP-214) collection in the M.E. Grenander 
Department of Special Collections and Archives, University Libraries, University at Albany, SUNY. 
 
 
 

. ! 

FINDINGS OF FACT 

TAB 1 

FINDING PAGE NO. PARAGRAPH NO. RECORD REFERENCE 

F246 56 1 SF VII, 16-150 

F59 14 1 SF I, 176 

F60 14 2 AX51 

F61 15 3 SF I, 146 

F62 15 4 SF I, 146 

F63 15 5 SF I, 146 

F64 15 6 SF VI, 57 

F65 15 7 SF I, 158-59/SF II, 43/ SF 
II, 216 

F66 15 8 SF VII, 26-30 

F67 15 9 SF II, 112-13 

F68 15 10 SF II, 26-30 

F69 15 11 AX 51/SF VI, 67-68 

F70 15 12 SF I, 152-53 

F71 16 13 AX 18/SF II, 69 

F72 16 14 AX 18 

F73 16 15 AX 20/SF VI, 80-81 

F74 16 16 SF III, 146/AX 19 

F75 16 17 AX 19 

F76 16 18 AX52 

F77 16 19 AX41 

F78 16 20 SFI, 88-89/SFIII, 17, 75, 
90 

F79 16 21 SF I, 68-79 
- -

F80 16 22 SF I, 165 
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FINDING 

F81 

F82 

F83 

F84 

F85 

F86 

F87 

F88 

F89 

F90 

F91 

F92 

F93 

F94 

F95 

F96 

F97 

F98 

F99 

FlOO 

FlOl 

Fl02 

F103 

F104 

F105 

PAGE NO. 

17 

17 

17 

17 

17 

17 

17 

17 

17 

18 

18 

18 

18 

18 

18 

19 

19 

19 

19 

19 

/ 19 

19 

19 

20 

20 

PARAGRAPH NO. RECORD REFERENCE 

23 SF VIL 30-34 

24 SF I, 126 

25 SF I, 126 

26 SF I, 144 

27 SF II, 115 

28 SF II, 115-16 

29 SF I, 193/SF II 90, 12, 
132 

30 SF VI, 145-46 

31 SF VI, 144 

32 SF VII, 35-38 

33 SF III, 196-254 

34 SF III, 224 

35 SF III, 208-14 

36 SF III, 215-17, 247-50 

37 SF III, 214-15, 233-34 

38 SF VII, 5-15 

39 SF VIII, 11-12/SF III, 231 

40 SF VII, 9-10 

41 SF III, 241-42 

42 SF III, 216/SF VI, 8-9 

43 SF III, 251-52 

44 SF III, 252 

45 SR 

46 SF VII, 35-38 

47 SF VII, 24-38 
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FINDING PAGE NO. PARAGRAPH NO. RECORD REFERENCE 

F106 20 48 SF VII, 24-45 

F2310 52 1 -------
F2311 52 2 SF I, 88-89 

F2312 52 3 SF I, 88-89 

F2313 52 4 SF I, 126 

F2314 53 5 SF I, 126 

--f F2315 53 6 SF I, 144 

F2316 53 7 SF III, 75-85, 104-112 

F2317 53 8 SF III, 75-85, 104-112 

F2318 53 9 SF III, 75-85, 104-112 

F240 53 10 SF VII, 104-112 

F241 53 11 SF VII, 104-112 

F242 54 12 SF VII, 104-112 

F243 54 13 SF VII, 104-112 

F244 54 14 SF VII, 104-112 

F245 54 15 SF VII 104-112 
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F246 

C155 

C1·56 

C157 

J. >.PPLYING THE •TOT>..LITY OP THE JU!P 
TEST TO Tii.E FAC':S AND ClRCu"l-!STA.~CES OF RESEN':AT!ON• 

THE APPLICANT'S CASE 

FIND!NGS OF FACT 

. l. !:: t~e i::terest o! juc1cial ec:o:'lo-.y, h ... t e Co..:.:rhe:el;y l::Cc:po:a:es by :e~e:e:"lce these Findinns of F• t ~- ~ . '"' .. c: '-' •• :.c: •• a;:pea: in Sectlons A, B, C, G, H, a::c I, supra. 

CONCLOSlONS OF LAW 

~· The s::.xt~ A::·;e~e~f':'lt to the Unitf'c States Cor.st:itution 
!:"lC A:tl~lf' I, .se.c:tlon 10 o! the Texas Cons ti tut ion en ti tlf' the 
acc~sed ln a c:i=:::al C!se to the :easonably eiffec:tive es~istanee 
e! ccu::sel. £x pa rte Ouf fy, Sl.:pra. 

2. The !cE';uac:y o! coc::sf'l 's asshtaneP is te-sted :by the 
.totality o! the re:;::eseor.tation, rather than by isolate-c acts or 
c~;ss;c~s of tri!l co~:"lsel or by isolatir.g or seop!:atir.; out one 
pc:t~c:i of t:ial coc::sel's pe:fo:~a::c:f' fo: ex!~inat~c~. Brid~e v 
State, 725 S.~.~c 556 ('!'ex.C:ir...J..;:p. lSB6). . • 

3. ~~::.le the Court of Cri~inal _Appeals has held that scrne 
:s::a:ec c~iss::c~s ~ay so affect t~e cutcor.e cf a fa:tieula: case 
as to t;~cE':~::r.e the rel i a~! l i ty of the ~roc:eecin;$, see May v. 
State, 722 s.~.2d 699 (Tex.Cri:r:.J.pp. 1984), the App'llcant nas 
ce~cr.st:atec n~erous errors and o~issior.s on trial counsel's part 
c~rir.; every sta;e o: his trial as set fo:th above, the cumulative 
e!fect of wr.ich clearly prej\lciced the l\ppllcant so as to lead 
this Cou:t to conclude that he ~as denied the reasor.ably e-ffective 
assistar.ce of cour.sel. Cf. Weathersby v. State, supra. (•The 
impact i:n this case of t:i"e r.u::-.e:-ous such defaults" cor.:pels a 
findin; that counsel ~as ir.ef!ective.}1 Williamson v. State, 
supra. (""e car.not overlook the nurrber ano serlousness of 
counsE'l 's cE'ficienc:if's. "} r Riascos v. State, supra. ("The 
cumulative effect of [counsel's) e:rcrs lS outragecus ••• ")1 Miller 
v. State, supra. ("{W)ithout trial counsel's ~any erro:s, a 
reascna.:::.ie p:::c.ca:;:,ility exists that the outcome could have been 
dif f e:ent. •) • 

4. As in all post-conviction writ :natters, Ex parte 
:isa ~Salinas. supra~ the ~pplicant be!rS the burden of prov•n; 

;lne:iective assistance of counsel by a preponderance of the 
evidence. Moore v. State, 694 S.W.2d 528 (Tex.Crim.App. lSSS). 

C159 

S. Because the Applicant has demonstrated l::iy a 
~:eponce:ance of the evidence that when the totality'o! defense 
co~nsel's rep=esentation as set forth above lS examined, the 
r.u?r.ber and seriousness of counsel's deficiencies and the 
concomitant p::-ejud ic:e the Applicant sufft>red thereby denied him 
the reasonably E'ffPctive assistance of cour.sel, the Court 
reco~.;:iends. that habeas corpus relief in this re;ard be GRANTED. 
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F59 

F60 

F61 

F66 

f 67 

f 68 

-~ . 
·':-. 

f 69 

no 

B. 
OF 

DEFENSE COUNSEL'S FAILURE TO OBTAI 
THE STATEJ-'..ENT OP FACTS FROH THE , N CRIT!CAL PORTIONS 
Ahl: :> CONStrLT AN INDEPEh"DENT B. -DEFENDANT'S TRIAL 

' ,LISTICS EXPERT 

Flh"DINGS OF FACT 

l. On June l, 1984, John Oale Henry ~as · d" d for the 
fPlony c!fPnsps of murder and a;;ravated robber in 1 ~ct~d been cor.~itted on or about April 13, 198,. Y a ege to have 

.2. - The Stat~ allegec! that F.enry's victim in the murdpr 
case "'as ChestPr H1ll and that his v.ieti-zn in th A"'"'ravate.11 
robbery case ~as Debra Young. e •• ~ 

• 3. On July l~, 19 S4,. the A;:;:lieant was indicted for the 
fe.oo~y c!!e::s.e e! ca;::ltal murct-r allPged to have been co~.:::itted en 
er.a-out A;::r1l 13, 198,, arising out of the sa~e transaction for 
~:.1ch Jc~n Dale Henry had already been indicted. -

4. Jo?'-.n Dale Y.e::.ry' s trial for the o!!ensp cf ag;nvatec! 
rc?:bttry be;an in the l 77 th Crir.inal District Court of Harris 
Cc~~ty, Texas, on January 23, lSSS, and conclude~ en January 24, 
l9BS. 

S. John ~ale Henry ~as re;::esented by Jim Skelton and the 
~as re;::esent~d by Jan Xrocker. 

6. Testimony in the J.pplicant•s trial in the prirAry case 
r.ot be;in until Y.ay 6, 19SS. 

7. Ne! the: Ren ~ock nor :rra:-:k J.lvarez r..ade a::."ly atte::-:pt to 
e~the: ~e=s::-:elly attend the He:iry trial so that they could 
a=~~aint t:.e~selves ~ith the tes:imony o! the sa~e witnesses who 
.,.:::.;:c eve::.t~ally testify at the J.;:;:lica:-:t's trial in the priJr..ary 
case. 

S. Neither ~ock nor J.lvarez ~ace accomodations for someone 
e:se to atte:-:c the trial in their a=sence so that notes could be 
ta~e:-: c! the testirnor.y o! those ~itnesses at tr.e Henry trial. 

9. Neither Mock nor Alvarez filed a motion with the trial 
:~c;e ir. the pri~ary case re;~esting a copy of the transcript of 
t:.e testi~o:-:y o! the State's ~itr.esses at the F.e::.ry trial so that 
they co~lc utilize it durir.g the A~plicant's trial. 

10. The Court finds ttat reasonably co~petent counsel would 
have taken .those steps necessary to have either personally 
a:te::.ced the Henry trial, made accc~ocations for someone to have 
co::.e so in tr.eir acsence, or to obtained a ·transcript of the 
testimony of the State's witr.esses at the Henry trial by filin; a 
re;~est for sa~e with the trial jud;e in the primary case. 

11. In ·her opening stater.:ent to the jl.lry in the. F!enry 
trial, Jan Xrocker told the jury that she believed the ev1cence 
~ould show that the J.pplicant fired .38 caliber bullets at Frank 
Hall, me decedent. 

12. During the Her.ry trial, firea:m.s expert C.E. Anders~n 
testified for the State that the gun referred to at t e 
J.pplicant's trial as State•s Exhibit 17 could have either been a 
.357, a .3B, or a .22. 
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. 13. Du:ring ~he He:i:ry trial, Oe!i:ra Young, the only living 
•:i--e.,.·itne~s to

1 
test.ify fo:r ~h~ State in both the :Henry t:rial and 

the Applicant s t:r1al, testified that she had prior experience and 
fe:iliarity.with fir-ear:ns. · 

. 14. Young testified. during· t~e Henry trial that the wea;:>on 
fir•d by the Applicant e:1tted a big boom and that she had aeen 
fire eo=!ng out of the barrel •hen his gun was fired. 

15. C.:t. A...,df':son testified during the Henry trial that & 
.357 or a .38 caliber weapon usually ~akes more of a noise when it 
is fired than a .22. 

16~ During her final ar;u~ent, Kroeker told the jury that 
the evidence showt"d that the Applicant possessed a .357 er .38 
cal~ber weapon as opposf'd to a .22. 

17. During the Her:ry trial, Harris Cour:ty Sheriff's Deputy 
.:.:ten Ha:-ris testifie:l that ~o::;ents after this offense, Debra 
Yo~n; ~ad told hi~ that the weapo:i that the ~pplicant had thrust 
ir: l':er face "looked like a .357" and that Youn; had physically 
jce~ti!ie~ Harris' .357 service revolver as looin; like the weapon 
that tl':e ~pplicant ha:l b:ancished. 

lS. During the Ee~ry tr!al, Ha:r:ris County Sheriff 'a 
~ete=tive Rc~nie P~illips testified that Yo~ng l':ad told him that 

F76 t:.e \to"eapcn ~:.ich tr.e App:icant had thrust in her face ~as A "big• 
~eapo"- wr.ich s:.e "tho'..lght" was a .357. 

19. Test:'.rr,ony at both t!ie r.e::ry_ trial and the Applicant'• 
tr:al revea:ed that altho'..l;h U:e:e_ \."ere :r.ultiple shots fired by 

F77 t~e A;plicant, John Cale Henry, and a third co-de!e~dant, Tyrone 
D·.:n?:::ar, •ho • •. :as killed during the cc::-.. '7.ission of this offense, the 
cea:h of Frank F.all was the result of a .22 bullet. · 

20. ~oth the prosecutor and defense counsel in the primary 
case ac:eed that the issue of whether the Applicant was the 

f78 "tris;er rr.an" who fired the fatal .22 caliber bullet which killed 
Hall ..... as a "life and death issue.• 

21. Crea~ion of a reasonable doubt in ~he mind of a single 
juror as to 'Whether the Applicant possessed a • 357 o:r a • 22 

F79 caliber weapon during the cor.~·T-.i ssion of this offense would in all 
probability have saved the Applicant's life. 

22. The .'lpplicant gave authorities a ~ritten stat7ment, 
adrr.itted in evidence at the· trial of the prir..ary case, in which he 

FBO admitted, inter alia, that he had a .22 caliber pistol that looked 
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like a co~bcy's ;~n a~d that John Dale He~ry ~-d w~•t a d· 
~ 36 .,.b ~ - •• .u ...... ppeare to 
~e a • ca.~ •= weapon ~~ring the cc .. ~ission of this offens•. 

_ 23. . In a.ny_ c::r;irninal .c:ase but particularly in a death 
>;enalty :;::osP:u.tion, it is. incu::-~.ent 'Upon defense c:ouns•l to 
cevelop a c:ches1ve and plaus1bl• trial strategy which at the very 
least is re~son~bly calculated to obtain a ne;ative answer to one 
c! the s~ecial issues so as to save the defendant's life. 

24. ~hen asked to bril"fly describe his trial strate;y 
ir:soh:r as advancing the contention that the Applicant did :not 
tr.e fatal shot, Y.ock noted that •I really didn't have one.• 

25. Mock then described his trial strategy in advancing the 
cc:-:ter.tion that the Applicar.t did not fire the fatal shot as being 
:;::e..-::;sed on "co~!~sior." and •total{) speculation.• 

26. t-."::e:-: askf'd to rec!ll at 
f'v;dence existed at the ti~• of 
eve~ce~ce ex;sted th!t the Arplicar.t 
P.~:k rerlied, "None.• 

the evicentiary hearing what 
the Applicant's trial what 
did not fire the fatal shot. 

~7. Fra:-;k Alvarez a:!.-::!tted that Meek never talked to him 
a~cut ~r.at their trial st:ate;y would be in atte~ptir.g to present 
the ~yylicant's dP!e:-:se !n tr.e p:i~a:y case ~nd that he and Mock 
"j~st sta:tec to trial.• 

2S. Ee:ause ~lva:ez r.ad a:sol~tely no experience in 
de!enc::ing cayital rr.';.l:-ce:- cases a!"ld locked to Mock to forr.:ulate 
w~atever trial strate~y t~e de!ense would advance, Alvarez noted 
t~at w~ateve: trial strate;y Mock se•~ed to possess •unraveled aa 
'lo:e ~ent i!lcn;.• 

29. Although neither Mock nor Alvarez had any expertise or 
trair.ir.g in ballistics or tr.e use of firearms, ce!er.se counsel did 
not r..ake any e!fort ·to obtain the assistance of an incependant 
expert in the firear~s and ballistics. 

30. Although Mock noted that he d!d not seek the assistance 
of such an expert because the· de!enst> had already used up the. 
$500.00 allotted to them to hire an ir.vesti;ator, Mock rr.ade no 
effort to even attempt to ask the trial judge for additional funds 
to hire a ballistics expert either informally or by written 
motion. 

31. The need for the defense to hire an independant expert 
in the field of ballistics and firearms was undrrscored by Mock'• 
testimony at the evidentiary tearing that he considered C.E. 
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. 32: In li;ht o! Mock 's t•stit::ony that his !J:)ility to save 
- the A;;:1ca~t's life. r.ir.;e: \2pon ereatir.; a reasonable doubt in at 

least one ~urcr's ~lr.d that the Applicant did not fire the fatal 
shot ar.d ~is c•::iced _-unwilllr.;ness or inability to adequately 
c:css-exa~lne C.E. Ance:son, the Court finds that reasonably 
co:7'.petent counsel would have taken stt>ps to obtain er at least 
ccns;;lt an ir.dPpe::dant ballistics expert, and that Mock's failure 
to do so was de!icien: pe:formance en his part. · 

33. ~!te: reviewing po:tions of the statement of facts from 
both- t~e He:::y trial a::: the A;;licant's trial as well as a nurrber 
o! witness s:a:e~ents and re;crts from both trials, Floyd 
Y.::.c:;a1c, a:; expe:t in the a:ea of fi:-ea=r.:s and ballistics who 
r.e:;ec train c.!. A::ce:scn, test!fied at tr.e evice::tiary·hearing 
as to a r:;;:-.::er c! hcts which he or any other firearr.:s exa..~iner 
wc;;:c ~ave testi!ied to at tr.e Ap;licar.t's trial. 

3~. Y.c~c::ald notec that based ~pon the testimony from both 
the ~;plicar.t's trial and the F.enry trial as to the the objective 
a;:;eara::::e, so-.:nd a::-id fi:ir:; cha:acter:istics of the .A;-plicar.t'• 

'92 ~~::, it was "a:i.~cst cbv:ic:.:s" t:.at the 1.;:plicant had fire-d a .357 
pistol c-..::-.ing the co:7'.::-:ission of the pri;:-.a:-y o!!p::se as o;:posec! to 
the .22 calibe: ... ea;:on that killed the decedent. 

·93 

35. :r-~c:Jor.ald pointed OiJt tl':.at the weapon depicted in the 
p:.oto~=a;h acwitted at the .A~;licant's trial as State Lxhibit 17 
could not be :eadily icentified f:orn the sice as a .22 and that 
virt~ally identical ~ocels cf the sa~e weapon are ~an~factured in 

.va:yir.; calibers, inclucin; a .357 model that looks identical to a 
.22 w~en v~e~ed from the side. 

36. :r-~cDor:ald stated that Debra Young's testiZT>ony at the 
F.en:y trial that the weapon firee by the .Applicant emitted a big 
boo~ and that she had seen fire eomin; out of the barrel ·when the 

·94 weapon was fired w~s objectively inconsistent with the Applicant's 
weapon having been·a .22. 

F95 

37. McDonald noted that Deputy Oickey showing his .357 
revolve:- to Debra Youn; moments after this offense, a weapon ~hicb 
Young told Dickey looked like the weapon the Applicant had fired, 
""as a ~ore accuratP :rr.eans of identifying the weapon than Young 
r..erely observing a· side view of the weapon in a photographic 
array. 
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36. Y.:~onald exa~ined C.t. And~rscr.'s report conePrning the 
J::!':ysic:al c:?-.a::ac:teristic:s of the bullet that killf'd the decede t 
i.::-:d us.ed t~at ir.for:nation in conjunction with the CLIS Y.anu~l 
re;!::cin; ~irea::~s ~eas~r•?en;s to deter:r.ine the type or tyye cf 
~eap3ns which could ~av~ f 2re: the fatal bullet. 

39. As a r~sult ?f his rf'seareh, Y.cDonald conel\Jded that 
the R.:;er .22 deplC:tf'd ln Sate's Exhibit 17 at the Applicant's 
trial could not have fired the b1Jllf't that killed the decedent 
be:a;.:se the r.u~~er cf la~ds and grooves on that bullet did not 
~tc:h the ni.::r.~er of lanes and ;roves created by a Ruger .22 
patol. 

,0. As a result of his research, ¥.:Donald concluded that no 
cc~:oy-style pistol c:c~~o~ly available in the Houston area could 
hav• fir•d the bullet that killed the df'c:edent inasrnueh as the 
cc~~...:nly availa:le .22 wearcr:s that could have fired the murder 
b.::let did not look like c:c;.;bcy-style weapons •. 

41. Y.c:~cr:ald noted that not;.;ithsta:'ldin; the fact that the 
~;;:icant ac~:tted having a c:o~~oy-style .22 caliber weapon in his 
~=itter. state~ent, he ;.;as r.c~ethl~ss c:c~vincea that the Appl:icant 
in !ac~ hac a .357 in li;~t of the unc:ontrcve:ted ~hysieal 
evice:;ce bi.:tt::essin; this conclusion. 

42. P.:Dc:.alc p::E'::-.!sec this :beliPf ir.itia!ly on tr.e sound 
t:.at r;e=::-a Yc-:.:n; attributed to t:.e weapon t:!':e Applicant fire-d 

100 ir:a.s~.i.:ch ~s the scunC: of a .337 is "r..any de;:-eoss of r..a;nitude 
F 1c~ce: tr.an a .22. 

43. Mc~c~alc a:so pre=ised this belie! on the fact that the 
t:-ajecto:-y cf t::e .38 cali~e: slugs found at the scene could be 
tracec back to the point wr.e::e Ce~r~ Youn; testified the Applicant 

Fl0 1was stancin;. 

44. McDonald also p:e:isec this ~elief on Yo1Jng's testimony 
tr.at the weapons i.:sea by ~ur.ba:- and Henry were •little bitty guns• 
while the weapon fired by the Applicant was a "bigw gun and that 

Fl02as McDonalc noted. "Tl':e:e is no suc:h thin; as a little bitty 
.357.•· 

45. The statE'r.oent of facts from the ~pplicant's trial on 
the pri~ary case reflE'c:ts that Mock only asked c.E. Anderson four 
~estions on c:ross-'exami:r.ation and did not encompass any of the 

F103areas touched upon by McDonald at the evidentiary heari_ng that 
would have been consistent with and supportive of the ~ot1on t~at 
reascnable dotibt existed as to whether the Applicant d1d not !ire 
the .22 bullet that killed the cecedent. 
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46. The Cou:rt finds that absent the assistance of an 
indeper.dent ballistics ~xpert, ~e!ense counsel were wholly 
ir.ca;::able c! ~resentir.g th~ jur~ with that evidence alluded to by 
Floyd ¥.::Oonald at the. evident ary hearing, evidenc• which was 
othe:;.:ise available to them and evidence that was reasonably 
caleulatPd to create a r•asonablP doubt in the minds cf at least 
one :h;iro:r that the A;::plicant did not fire the .22 bull•t that 
killed the decedent. 

4i. The Court fu:rthe:r finds that in vi•w of defense 
eour.sPl's failure to monitor the trial of John Oale P.enry so as to 
fa~Sliarize the~selves with the testi~ony of the State's ~itnesses 
or to other-is• obtain a transcript of their testimony for use at 
the Applicant's t:rial, and ;iven dehnse counsel •a fail\ire to 
obtain the ass~stanee of an independent ballistics expert to 
a:e~~ate!y assist them in ~resenting that evidence before the jury 
-~ieh ~as !~together likely to create a reasonable doubt that the 
~;p:ica"t fired the fatal shot in the primary ease, defense 
co~~se:•s p~rported ir.vest!gation of the facts in the primary case 
-as so i~a=e~~ate as to be outside the wide range of ~ro!esionally 
cc~;ete~t assistanc~. 

48. In view of their failcre to ace~uately ir.vesti;ate the 
facts of tl":.e p:irr.ary casP, cefe.,se counsel 1 1 resultant trial 
strate;y cf "cc:;fusion" and "speculation" was not, in fact, sound 
tria: strate¥Y ar:c ~as ta~ta~ount to no trial strate;y at all. 

CONCLOS!ONS OF LAW 

l. It is '"·ell settled that a ·crirr.inal ce!ense- attorney 
r:;ust have a firm co::-.. -:-.and of the facts of the case before he can 
re:;cie:- rPas~r:a'l:l'' e!feetive assistance of counsel. Butler v. 
State, 716 S.W.2d 48 (Tex,Cri~.App. 1986). 

2. Oe!ense counsel has the responsibility of conducting an 
ir:cP~e:-.ca"t ir:vesti;ation of the facts of his client's case and 
this burden r..ay not be delegated to an investigator. Ex parte 
F!tiing, 570 S.W.2d 941 (Tex.Crim.App. 1978). 

3. A natural conseQuencP of this notion· is. that defense 
counsel has a responsibility to seek out and interv1ew P?tential 
~itnesses and the failure to do so will result in a fin~1ng that 
counsel bas been ineffective where a viable defense ava1lable to 
the acct;sed has not been advanceod. Ex parte Duffy, 607 S.W.2d 507 
(Tex.Crirr..App. 1980). 

4. Defense counsel has a professional duty to presentt athll 
available testimony and other evidence calculated to supper e 
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ce!ense of his client. 
(!ex.Cri~.App. 1977). 

Thor.as v. State, SSO S.W.2d 64 

5. To sucee~sf~lly· acvance the contention that his trial 
co;;risel "·ere ine!fective, the A~;::licant ztr:JSt der.'lonstrate that 
co;;nst"l's failure to ade~~ately investi;ate the facts of his case 
as well as their failure to obtain the assistance cf an 
~r.cepe~cant ballistics expert to assist them in prpser.ting their 
ce!enslve theory to the jury ~as de!icient in that these failures 
neither fell within the wide range cf :rusonable professional 
ess!stance nor were they part of a sound trial strategy. 
Strickland v. Washington, supra. 

6. Str~te;ic choices ~a~e by de!ense counsel after 
thorough ir.vesti;ation cf law and facts relevant to plausible 
cr:~cns are virtually unchallen;eable and strategic choices ~ade 
e!ter less than cc~p~ete investi;ation are reasonable precisely to 
tl':e ex tent that reason a.bl e profess ion al jud~ents support the 
l1i::::Hat.ior.s on invest.i;at1on. Str1ckland v. ;iasf.1ngton, supra. 
1!~;~as;s acce;). 

7. Co:-:sistPnt w.ith tl':ese notions, defense counsel has a 
duty to r..ake · rea sc::-:able ir.vest :i s;a t ions or to r..ake a reasonable 
ce-c.is:io:n that r..akes partkular investigations unnecpssary. 
Str)ckland v. Washington, supra. 

S. While the J.yplicant must oveorcorne the strong 
~~es~~ptic:n that under the facts a~d circu~stances of this case, 
ce!e.,se co~nsel's conduct as set forth above mi;ht be considered 
sc~nd trial strategy, Strickland v. Washington, supra, it may not 
be ari~ed that a given course of conouct ~as witn1n the realm of 
trial strate;y unless and until ce!ense counsel has conducted the 
r.eo=essary legal and factual investigation which would enable him 
to r..ai<e an info:-rned rat.ional decision. Ex parte Welborn, supra. 

9. Because ce!ense cour:sel has a duty to bring to bear 
such sJd ll and knowledge as will render the frial a "reliable 
adversarial testing process," Strickland v. Washington, supra, the 
Court concludes that ce!ense counsel's fa1lure to aoequately 
investigate the facts of the prirr.ary case and their co.ncomitant 
failure to obtain the assistance of an inde>pendant ball:istiea 
expert to assist them in presenting their de!eonsive theory to the 
jury fell outside of the wide ran;e of profession~lly c~r.i>etent 
assistance, Butler v. State, supra, and cannot be fairly viewed as 
sound trial strategy. £X parte Duffy, supra. 

10. The Supre~e Court has long reco~nizeod that when ~ State 
brir.gs its judicial power to bear in a crir..inal proct>ed1ng, it 
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~~st take st:~s to •s~re that the ce!encant has a fair opportunity 
to ~=eH>r:t ha ctfe::se. lle v. Oklabo=a, '70 tJ.S. 68 (1995). 

_ 9. Cc::s!ste::t with this notion, the Si:p:re=ie Court has held 
that w~en a:; ir.ci;ent C:e!encant r.akes ·a preliminary showing that 
l':is sanity •.t the time o! the o!f ense is to be a si;nif ic:ant 
factor at trial, the State must· assure the defe::car:t access to a 
cc~pete::t ps:chiatrist w:.o will conduct an aypropriate exa~ination 
a::c assist in eval'l.latien, prt?aration, and· ;:resentation cf the 
ce!t::se. lle v. Oklahoma, supra. 

lO. w::ile the appointment c! an expert witness under 
Article 25.0S, V.A.c.c.P., rests within the sound discretion cf 
the trial court,. Ouin v. State, 608 S.W.2d 937 (Tex.Crim.App. 
19SO), the trial court abuses its discretion in failing to appoint 
s~ch an ex?e=t w:.en the defendant has made a sho~ir.; that he will 
l:e ha=~ed by the trial court's refusal to do so; Stoker v. State, 
iSS S.t-:.2c l (Tex.Cri:t.A?P· 1989). . 

l l. Alt ho'.l;:l': :rea sc::al: ly c o~?e~e::t ce ! t::se cou::sel wo'l.lld 
ha~e :ea:ily see:: the r.eec fer the aypointwent o! an indepencant 
l::a:l::s:::cs expe:: to assist the:n .in prE"sentin; their defensive 
t::.ec:-y, ce!ense co~=sel in the pri~a:-y case ~ade no effort all to 
:e~~es: the appo::n:ment o! such an expert o:r to otherw!se present 
a~c ~:ese:ve ev::ce::ce ir. the reco:d as to the ha=m or injury the 
J.;;:;:: icant \.IC'.l!d si;ffe: in t:!':.e absence of such an appointment. 
See Baniey v. State, 696 S.t-:.2d 114 (Tex.C:dr. .• J..pp. 1985). 

12. The Co'l.::-t co:: cl uces that reasonably co::ipetent defense 
cc~~se: ~o'l.:~c have taken these sters neces~ary to timely apprise 
the t:;al jud;e of their r.eed for e~pert assistance in the area cf 
~a!l:s:::cs, see Green v. State, 682 S.W.2d 271 (Tex.Crim.App. 
lSS4), and in-The event of an acverse ruling, p:esented evidence 
ir. tr.e reco:d of harrn and inj'l.:ry so as to preserve this issue for 
a;:;:e::ue :eview, see Phillips v. State, 701 S.W.2d 875 
(7ex.Cri~.~pp. 1985).~ 

13. W:!':.ile defense counsel mi;ht well have believed that any 
re~i;est for the appoint~ent of a. ballistics expert ~o ass.ist them 
in presenting their ce!er.sive theory of the case mlght.hav~ been 
fruitless, they nonetheless had the profess 1c;nal obl lg-a t1on to 
bring this :request to the attention of the t~ial court as. their 
fear of having the trial cou:rt overr'l.llt> thelr request did J?Ot 
justify their failure to obtain an acve:se ruling, or any r'l.ll1ng 
at all, on their re~Jest. See Mitchell v •. state, 762 S.W.2d 916 
(Tex.~pp.--san Antonio, l9Ssr:-

' . ('. 
b - u .... > 
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14. The Co..:rt r:o::c:ludes that as a result of defense 
eo~~sel's failure to a~e~uately .invPstigate the facts of the 
pr lz:.ary case and. thelr c:onco~.~ tan~ failure to obtain the 
ass_; s t.a:'l.ce . of an ;nde?e:;dant bal,l ~Stl c:s expert, defense counsel 
~as ll~ltPd to de.endlng the Ap~.lcant through cross-examination 
rather than p:esentin; a eohes ive and p! aus ible de!ensive 

0

theory. 
E.x parte Ybarra, 629 S.W.2d 943 (Tex.Crim.App. 1982). 

lS. The A~plic:ant's contention that defense counsel'• 
failure to ade~~ately investi;ate the facts of the pri~ary case 
a~d to obtain the assista~ce of an independant ball~sties expert 
resulted in his being dPnied the e!fective assistane~ of counsel 
rr.ay be sustained only if he can ce::ionstrate that a reasonable 
~robability exists that, but for de!ense counsel's unprofessional 
Prrcrs, the res\Jlt of the proc:eed!ng would have been different. 
Strickland v. Washington, supra1 Hernandez v. State, supra. 

16. W'h!le the Court is not convincpd that a reasonable 
p·cbability exists that the ot:tc:c::1e of tl':e ;uilt or innocence 
sa;P of tl':e proceedings wo'Jld l':ave l::een d:ifferent, the Court 
cc~c:1~ces that, but for de!e~se ec~~sel's de~ic:ient perforrnance as 
set !crth a:!:::ove, a rE'asor.able prebability does exist that the 
c~tcc~e o! the proceecl~;s at the punisl-...~ent stage of the 
~rccee::in;s "10Uld have been cifferent. Ex parte Guzmon, 730 
s.t-t.2c 724 C'!ex.Cri= .• App. 1987). 

17. When a de!encuit c::a:len;es a death sentenee, the 
~~estion is ... ~ether tr.ere is a reasc;.able probability that, absent 
de:e~se co~nsE'l's errors, the se:.te~cer ~ould have concluded that 

C59 t!':e :t::a:a!)ce of aggravating a:;d zr.itigating circt:r.:stances did not 
.,.ar.ra:.t death. Strickland v. Washington, supra. 

lS. The bench11iark !or jt:dging any claim of ir.e:fectiver.ess 
rr:-..:st l::e "·::e:.r.er ce!ensE' eo,,;nsel 's conduct so unce:mined the proper 
!uncticn~ng of the adversarial process that the trial--at either 

C60 stage of the proceedin;s--cannot be relied on as having produced a 
jest result. Strickland v. Washington, supra. 

C61 

19. lf de-!ense counse-l's presentation of the Applicant'• 
ce!ensive theory r.ad been premised on a thorough f~ct~al 
investi;atiori incl~ding the retention of an independant balllStlca 
expert, the Court .concludes that any 1 ingeri~; "residual doubt• 
that the jury might r.ave had that the J.ppllcant had not l::>een 
responsible for firing the fatal shot would have clearly operated 
in his favor at the punisr .. ~ent stage of the trial. See Lockhart 
v. HcCree, 476 u.s. 172 (1986). 

• • I""" 

{? j J - .. 



This document is housed in the Capital Punishment Clemency Petitions (APAP-214) collection in the M.E. Grenander 
Department of Special Collections and Archives, University Libraries, University at Albany, SUNY. 
 
 
 

_J 

C62 

C63 

C64 

20. The Col.!rt concludes that de!ense counsel's failure to 
a~e,~ately investi;ate the !aets as re!lected in their wholesale 
fa!ll.!re to monitor the trial of the Aprlicant's eo-de!endant er to 
cthe:-wise obtain critical pcrticns of the state~ent of facts from 
the_c:o-ce!e::d~nt'a eria~, their ccncc~itant failure to obtain the 
assistance of an ir.de;endent ballistics expert to assist the~ in 
acvancin; the A;;licant's defensive theory caused a breakdown in 
the acve:sarial process that our system counts on to produee just 
results, a breakdown s~! f .i c: ient to undP:'lr.ine c:onf idence in the 
o~tc:cne of the punish:lent sta;e ef the primary ease. Strickland 
v. ~as~in;ton, supra; EX parte Guz::::on, suprar Cook v. Lynaugh, S~I 
f.~= 1C.12 (Sth Clr. l9&d. 

2i. In seekin; ha~eas corpus relief. the A~plieant assumes 
the burden o! ~roving his factual alle;ations by a preponderance 
of the evicenee. Ex parte Griffin, 67.9 S.W.2d 15 ('!ex.Crim.App. 
l.9 a:) • 

22. Eecause the .A;;;;lic:ant has ce;:i.onstrated by a 
~=e;c::ce:-a:-:c:e of the ev.icence that ""hen the totality of ce!ense 
cc·~:ise: 's re~:-eser.tation, Ex parte Welborn, supra, lS v!e...,ecl in 
c:c;:j\,;:-;ctic:: with· those ether fa:.lln;s of col.::isel set forth in 
Sect.ions C, G, B, and I, infra, see Weathersby v. State, 627 
s.t-: 2d 729 (Tex.Crirr..A;;p. Bo."2), Ee 'lo.'!.S cen:.ec t:ie eu.ec:tive 
ass s :a::c:e o! c:ol.:r.sel, the Co~rt reco;-."":".ends that habeas corpus 
re: e! in this re;a:d be GRANTED. 

~----------------

' , 4 '-' -.J. ,. 
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I. O::fENSE COUNSEL'S FAlLURE T\ 'ORMU 
TRlALT~~TR>.~~~~F50R DEFUSING THE APPLlC>.Nr~~E~~~~~N 

non n..r;.. "~ >..ii.MED WlTH A .22 CALIBER FIRE.ARM 

FINDINGS OF FACT 

. 1. lri the intf':~st of judic:ial economy the co th eh 
~ncc:pc:ates by refe:ence these Findins;s of Fa~t ~hich~ er 1 Y 
Section B, supra. ~pear n 

. 2. Counsel for both sic.f's in the prir..ary case alfreed that 
th: :.ss:.:e. of ':"'r.ether th.e .A~pllcant firf'd the fatal .22 caliber 
tu~let wr.1ch kllled the cececent was a •Jife or death issue.• 

. 3. Oe!er.se ~ounsel reiadily ackn.owleds;ed and the court 
r:nds t~at the creatlon of a reaso::able doubt in the mind of a 
s1r.1flf' ~uror as to •hether the ~ppl1cant possessed a .357 or .22 
caliber weapon during the co~~ission of this off.,r.se would in all 
prcbability have· saved the .Applicant's life. 

4. ~hen asked to describe the trial stratpgy that he had 
formul!ted insofar as convincing the jury that the Applicant did 
not fire the fatal .2? caliber bullet was concerned, lead defense 
counsel Ron Hock replied that, •1 really didn't have one.• 

S. Mock, however, later described the trial strategy that 
he hac for~~:ated to co~vince the jury that the Applicant had not 
fired the fatal .22 caliber bullet as being pre~ised on 
•con!usion• and •total{) speculation.• 

6. ~)")en asked et the evidentiary hearing to recall "'·hat 
evide"ce existed at the time of the Applicant's trial that he did 
not fire the fatal .22 caliber bullet, Kock replied, •None.• 

7. During his final argur.ient in the punish.'Tlent stage of 
the Applicant's trial, de!ense co-counsel Frank Alvarez argued to 
the jury that, R(TJhere is some evidence perhaps that [the 
Applicant] :r.ay hav• had a .357 rr.a;num instPad of a .22. Of 
coursf', in the [Applicant's) state::-;ent, it says he had a .22. % 
can't explain that. I can't get around that. I'm going to be 
honest ""lth you. It's not beyond the realm of possib1I1ty, 
however, that the Sherlff 1 s people may have put the wrong caf1ber 
ao...-n for their purposes. There is no proof of that, but li [the 
Applicant) F.ac a .357 rr.&gnu~, then F.e ~asn't tne person who pulled 
the tri;;er that killed Mr. Hall.• (Emphasis added). 

s. To the extent that this argument r..ay be viewed as a 
Jast-r..inute attempt to formulate a trial strategz• calculated to 
de!~se the Applicant's ad~ission in his ""ritten statement that he 
'"as arr..ed with a • 22 caliber fi:"ear:n, the Court finds that it 
ca"not be !airly described as a sound trial strategy. 

9. V!ewed against the backdrop of Mock's test~mony.a~ the 
evicent:a:-y hearing, Alvarez' fir.al ar£ur.ierit at the pun1sfunent 
sta~e of tr.e J.ppl :l cant's trial, and the p:l:ysical evidence which 
de!e::se ~ounsPl was aware of or should t•ve reasonably been 'ware 
of, the . Court finds tr.at cie!e::sl!' counsPl had no sound trial 
strate~y to cefuse the }ipplicant's aorr.ission that he was arznE"d 
"''i th a • 22 caliber firearm. 
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. 10. D .. in; t~e evicent:'.a.ry l':eari~g. ~andy Scha!fer, the 
J.rr:2cant'5 expert ~2tness on.tr.e a:ea cf ine!fect!ve assistance c: cc~~sel noted that ~t t~~ t2rr.e the ~Pplicant ~ave investigators 
h:s ~rltten statement ln w .. 2ch he admltted that he was armed with 
a .22 caliber firearm, neither the Applicant nor the investigators 
knew that the cececent had been killed with a .22 caliber bullet • 

. l~. Sc~a!fe: poin~ed out.that because it was his experience 
ir. cr2rr.inal cases lnvolv;n; co-ce!encants that, •rr1ach one claims 
the other or.e cid it,• it was Ieasonable to conclude that the 
J.pplkar.t r.icre tr.an like>ly s.,..itched plact"s "-'ith .1ohn Dale F.enry in 
ter~s of both the weapons they possessed and their places during 
t~e co~~ission of the pri~ary c!!er.se because the J.~plicant 
be:ieved at the ti~e that a bullet from his .357 rna;num had caused 
the death of the decedent. 

12. The Court finds that reasonably cor.-:petent counsel, 
particularly one with the L~ount of trial experence in both 

F242 c:ar!tal a:id non-capital cases that Mock possessed at the time of 
.• the Applicant'• trial, would have seen that a sound trial 

s:ra:e;y--perhaps the only sound trial strategy--in defi.:sin; the 
A;plicant's a=rr.ission ~t he was ar:ned with a .22 caliber 
f iree:ir., was that the A;;licant switched places with his 
co-ce!endant in his written statement to avoid be!n; identified as 
the actor ~hem he be:ieved at the time had fired the fatal shot. 

F243 

F244 

F245 

C144 

13. The Court finds that the trial strategy alluded to by 
sc;-.a!!e: et the evice:itiary hearing, a strate;y certainly not 
:be)'C::d the i:;tellectual ;rasp of reasonably co:..petent counsel. 
that the J.;plicar.t ~i;~t have been a liar but net a killer, was 
r.c: c::ly cc::siste::t with the physical evicence in the Applicant'• 
case but was ir.f~nitely ~ore sound than the trial strate;y 
i:;re~!sed on "confi.:sion", "total{J spec"Ulatien", and •no proof• 
a~va:;ced by c~!ense counsel. 

14. The Coi.:rt finds that based on the physical evidence of 
.,..nicn cefer.se co~nsel .,..as either eware cf or should have 
reasc:-:a=ly been a.,..are of, that the trial stra te;y ell uded tc by 
Sc:ha!fer .,..as not only plausible· but was le2ally and ethically 
s~pporta:le as .,..ell. 

lS To the exter.t that this trial strategy could have been 
cevelo;ed by ce!er.se counsel through the cross-examination of the 
horr.!c:ide cetectives, the Court finds that it would not have been 
r.ecessary for, ce!e::se counsel to have put the 'J.pplicant on t~e 
star.d to expressly admit that he had S\.:itched places in his 
.,..ritter. state~ent .,..i~h his co-ce!endant. 

CONCLUSIONS OF LAW 

l. !t is well settled that a criminal ~e!ense attorney 
r.:\:St have a firm co::-:r.and cf the facts of the case be!o:e he can 
re:.cer rE'asor.ably effective assistance of · -.our.sel. · Eutler- v. 
State, supra. 

2. oe!e~se cour.sel has the responsibility of conducting an 
C145 indeper.dant ir.vestigation of the !acts .of his cli~nt's ca~7 and he 

rnay not rely exclusiv~ly upon h~s cllent's verslon ~o oischar;~ 
this responsibility. .c.x parte E"w1ng, supra. 
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3. Defer.se counsel has a pro!ession 
C146 available ev' 'ieneP and argu.:nents in ., al duty to present all 

positions an to eontPst ""ah V'3;or a pordt of his client'• 
' h s ·~ a ve .... se evidence and v.ews. T ou.as v. tate, supra. (!r..phasis added): 

4 ~ lor"hile ~the J.ppUca~t Zl'IU&t overcome the strong 
~~e:u::-:ptlon t~at de.en&e counsel • eondl.let as set forth above 
~:; .. t be. consldered &01.lnd trial strategy, it inay not be argued 
~hat a ~lven,eol.lrse of condl.let constitl.lted trial strate~ unless 
and 1.lntll ~e-~nse counsel ha& co~dueted the necessary legal and 
factual investl;ation. !!x parte ~elborn, Sl.lpra. 

S. Secause de!ense counsel has a duty to bri1'lg to bear 
such skill and kno...,led;e as ,..ill render the trial a •reliable 
a~versarial testi1'lg process,• Strickland v. Washington, supra, the 
Court conc:l\ldes that defense counsel 1s fall1.1re to formulate and 
advanep a 101.lnd trial strategy for de!\lsin; the Applicant'• 
a::::-.!ssion that he "'·e.s armed ~ith a .22 caliber fireann fell 
outsice of the ~ide range of professionally competent assistance, 
Butler v. State, supra, so as to constitute deficient perforr.~nee. 
~lack v. State, supra • 

. 6. In li;~t of the physical evicence avail~le to them at 
the A~plicant's trialh the Court concludes that de!ense coun$el'• 
trial strate;y of "cor.f'l.lsion" and "total [l speoeulation• in 
atte~ptir.g to convi::ce the jury that the Applicant did not fire 
tl':.e f! ta l • 22 caliber bullet! ._,hen contrasted with that le2ally 
a::: eothically plausible trial strategy alluded to above, cannot be 
!eirly vie~ed as a sound trial strategy. Ex parte Guzmon, supra1 
Riascos v. State, supra: Miller v. State, supra. 

7. Cleirns of i:r.ef!ect!ve::ess r.:'l.lst be jud;ed on ""hether 
ee:e::se cour.sel's CO~CUCt SO UncP:~ined the proper f'l.lnctioning of 
the ecve:- sa:- j al process that tf:e trial, at either sta;e of the 
p:oceecln~s, cannot be rel:ied upon as l:aving produced a juat 
result. Strickland v. Washington, supra1 Ex parte Welborn, supra. 

S. If defense cou~sE'!l 's present at ion of the Applicant's 
ce:e::sive tl':.eory had been pre~ised, 1nter alia, on the sound trial 
st:ate;y tr.at the Applicant s~itched ~laces in his written 
st cs t e::;er.t with his co-def en cant, the Court con cl uces that Any 
li:r.gering "residual doubt" that the jury :night have had that the 
J.pplicant had not fired the fatal .22 caliber bullet would liave 
clearly ope:-ated in his favor at the punishment sta;e of the 
trial. See Lockhart v. Mccree, supra. 

9. Eecause the jury's resolution of w~ether the Applicant 
fired the fatal shot was literally a ~atter of life and death to 
the J.pplicant. the Court concludes that the Applicant was 
p .. e~ud iced by defense counsE"l 's conduct and that a reasonable 
p;cbabi l i ty exists that the outcorne of the proceedings at the 
punishment stage of the Applicant's trial ~ould have been 
different but for defense counsel's deficient performance. Ex 
parte Guzrnon, supras Boyington v. State, 738 S.W.2d 71'1" 
(Tex.Xpp.--Bouston l!st DfSf:T;--·neS). 
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10. In seekir.; ha~pas cc~us reliP!, the ~;:licant assumes 
the t~=~e~ e! p=ovir.; his faetual alle;a:icns ~Y a p:e;:c::ee:ance 
o! t!:.e eviC:e:-:ce. ·Ex pa:-te Alexander, supra. -

ll. Bee a use the A;:;:licant has ce=.cr.s::a tee by a 
:;::e;:c::ce:a::c:p c! the evidence t~a t ._.be:i the totality o! cef l!nSP 
cc~::sel's rP;::ese::tation is viewec in ccr.junctlcn w~tn these other 
fai1in;s cf cc~r.s~l sPt forth ir. Sections B, C, G, and B. s~pra, 
be •as ce::ipC: the effective !ssistar.c:e of counsel, the Co\.lrt 
recc=::-.e::cs that ha;f'&S cc:p\.lS rf'l i eo! in this re; arc be CRA.h"'T!D. 

\ 
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C. DEFENSE COUNSEL'S FAILURE TO OBJECT TO THE STATE'S 
USE OF VlCTI~ "MF.ACT EVIDENCE AT TRIAL A:. DURING FINAL ARGUMENT 

FINDINGS OF FACT 

. l~ During the guil~.or innocence sta;e of the ~pplicant's 
tr1a~, £1l!en Hall. ~he ~icow of the decedent, was permitted to 
testify without ob~ect1on that the cecedent had performed 
"cor.~unity service-t~e work• as a volunte.er fire~an who drove an 
a~~ulance for the fire departwent as well. 

that 
work 

had 
the:n 

2. Hall was also permitted to testify without objection 
the week after the decedent's death, he was slated to begin 
with the Liberty County Sheriff's Department. 

3. Hall was also permitted to testify that the decedent 
taken in her two boys from a previous rr.arriage to live with 
after sr.e married the decedent. 

4. Lead defer:se cour:sel Ron Mock no:ed that evidence as 
to the impact of crime on the victims of crime, so-call~d 

FllO ··victim-impact testimony,• was ir.adrr.!ssible and that it had been 
his policy for many years to never let the State elicit this type 
of testimony ir:asrnuch as it •irreparably" preju~iced the accused. 

F11.1. · 

F112 

5. Mock stated that he did not object to Hall's testimony 
regarcin; the decedent's work as a volunteer fire~an or other good 
works because this testimony wdid not go to character as character 
is in its overall ~apacity conceived," and that this testimony was 
not ha:m!ul to the Applicant's case. 

6. Mock noted that he did not file a pre-trial motion in 
limine to preclude the State from eliciting victi~-impact evidence 
beca-..:se he did not think that sound trial strate;y reqiJired tha.t 
he do so. 

7. The Court finds that reasonably co~petent defense 
counsel would have filed a pre-trial motion in limine to preclude 

F113 the State from eliciting the very type of victirn-i.rr.pact evidence 
• to which Mock failed to object. 

S. The Court finds that reasor.ably competent defense 
counsel would ha.ve objected to Hall's testimony regarding . the 

F114 cecede:it's emplo~ent as a volunteer fireman, sheriff's deputy, 
~ and his other good works. 

9. To the extent that Mock believed that his failure to 
object to Hall's testimony was sound trial strategy, the Court 

F115 finds that it was not. 

Fl16: 

10. During the cuilt or innocence stage of the Applicant'• 
t ria 1, Debra Young, the State's only eyewitness in the pri:r.ary 
case, testf ied without objection tha_t a.t the time the _Appli~a71~-- _ 
put a gun to her head, she was thir.king about her three children 
and that the:-e '-?Uld be no one to tai<e care of them. 

11 •. Young also testified without objection \.hat when the 
Applicant knoc~ed her against the wall during the prima~y offens~, 

F117 she kept wonderin; who was going to take care of her ch1ldren. 
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the ~yplicant's case. ·• ~~•e- or ~nae lt was harmful to 

13. Mc.. -~ stated that he did · 
F119 as to what was going throu~h her ;fnt ob_,ec:t to young's testimony 

knocked her a;ainst the wall b d at the t1zr.e the Applic:ant 
admissible as "go Cing] to her st~~~u~~ ~~n:~: t this testimony was 

14. The Court finds that reas bl 
have objected to Young• s test imon ona Y corr.petent counsel would 

F120 "'10uld take care of children and th;t about her c:'ncerns as to who 
have been se~ved by failinn to b' no sound tr1al-&trategy could 

F121 

F122 

F123 

F124 

F125 

F126 

F127 

F129 

• • o Ject to it. 

15. During his final argur:'tent in the guilt or innocence 
sta;e of the Applicant's trial, Mock argued to the jury that he 
""as sure th~ t ~ebra Young • {\oil as terrified. I don• t suppose 
anybody can irnag1n~ the terror she went through. On top of that, 
she lost a good friend ••• and certainly wants to see somebody pay 
for what happened.• 

16. Mock stated that the strategic value in re~inding the 
jury that Young had been terrified and an;ry ""as in a lawyer 

• ;aining credibility with the jury by •ad..~it[ing] that those things 
did happen.• 

17. The Court finds that contrary to Mock's assertions, 
there was no basis in a sound trial strategy for making this type 
of argunent to the jury i~ the Applicant's case. 

18. During his final argument in the guilt or innocence 
stage of tr.e trial, John Kyles, lead counsel for the prosecution, 
argued without objection that Debra Young gave of herself, that 
she was a volunteer ar.~ulance driver, and that she was a 
straight-fo~~ard worr~n who gave of herself. 

19. Mock noted that he did not object to Kyles' argu~ent in 
this regard because he believe that it was a reasonable deduction 
!row "facts in evidence" and that this argument did not prejudice 
the Applicant's case. 

20• Tl:e Court finds that had reasonably competent defense 
cour.sel properly objected to Young's testimony, this argument would 
not ];ave been permissible as a reasonable deduction from the 
ev!cence, and that regardless of this earlier waiver, reasonably 
cor.ipetent counsel would have nonetheless objected to Kyles• final 
argur.ient. 

21. 
stage of 
objection 
concerned 

During his final argument in the guilt or innocence 
the Applicant• s trial, Kyles reminded the jury without 
that Young thought she was going to die and that she was 
about who was going to take care of her children. 

22. Mock stated that he did not object to Kyles' argu~ent 
in this regard because it ....-as a reasonable deduction from· those 
facts already in evidence. ---- -

. _ 2.3. The Court fil,:Js that had reason ably competent CO\. ""ls el 
properly objected to Yc.:·Jng's testimony, this ar:g.urnent_ would not 
have been a reasonable deduction from the evicence, and that 
recaroless of this earlier waiver, reasonably competent counsel 
wo;ldl":ave nonetheless objected to Kyles' argument. 
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24. Ou ring his fin al argument in the guilt or innocence> 
state of the Applicant's trial, Kyles argued· wi thol.lt objection 
that the decedent ~as.a man who ;ave of himself and to his family 
had three jobs, and had time to act as a vol l.lnteer ar..l::>l.llanc; 
driver. 

25. Mock stated that he did not object to this argwnent 
because he did not feel that he could ~~ke •a legal objection• to 
it. 

26. Mock admitted that he did not believe that the issl.le of 
the decedent's good works in the cor.~unity .,.ere relevant to any 
issue material to the jl.lry's deliberations at the ~uilt or 
innocence sta;e of the Applicant's trial. 

27. Mock did not believe that evidence and argument as to 
the decedent's good works and his loss to the co;;-..~unity .,.as either 
"victim-impact evidence" nor prejudicial to the Applicant's 
ce!e:r.se. 

28. The Court finds that had reasonably competent counsel 
objected to Eileen Hall's testimony, this aru~ent wol.lld not have 
been pe:-r.;iss.ible, and that rega:-dless of this earlier waiver, 
:reasonably cc;;;petent counsel ....,ould have nonetheless objected to 
Kyles' a:-gument. 

29. The Court finds that contrary to Y.oc:k 's assertions,, 
the=e was no basis in a sound trial strategy for permitting the 
State to en!;age in this t~e of final ar;urnent. 

30. During his fir.al a:-gument in the pur.ish.'ilent stage of 
the Appl.:icant's tria.l, Mock argued to the jury that the Applicant 
was not ceir.g tried for a "case of felony dur.b ass," and that, 
"The people who do robberies are not n.ice people ••• I know you 
can't elase the scars of a robbery. You can't erase the rnernory of 
a gun pointed in your nose or to your head and sc~ebody telling 
you give ~e your rnoney, motherfucker. You can't do that.• 

31. Mock stated that the strategic value in rr.aking this 
ded cedly profane argument was to rr.ake the jurors aware that 
robbery .,.as not a pleasant experience. 

32. Even though the language Mock used had not been used by 
the Applicant "during the co~~ission of this offense, Mock 
nonetheless believed that there was strategic value in and that 
the Applicant's defense was helped by showing the jurors the way 
"real robbers" operate. 

. ') '1 ~1 , -.. -
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3~. The Court finds that contrary to Mock'& assertions, ~o 
s tra te; ic purpose calculated to assist the A"'pl icant • 5 d f nse 
could have been served by Mock's argument. ~ e e F139 

34.. Ou.ring his final argument in the punishment stage cf 
the Applicant.s trial, Mock ar;u~d to the jury that-the deced~nt 
worked three Jobs and that all that he had wotked hard to build up 

Fl40 over the years had been taken away by the Applicant. 

35. Mock noted that his trial strateogy in ma.king this 
argur:;ent was to show that the ceceocent provoked the Applicant into 
shooting him and that this argument helped rather than hurt the 

F141 Applicant's defense. 

36. The Cou~t finds that no sound trial strategy could have 
been served by this ar;u~ent and that this argument was clearly 

• calculated to and did, in fact, enable- the State to respond to 
F142 and en:arge upon the good qualities of the decedent. 

F143 

F144 

. Fl 45 

F146 

F147 

F148 

37. During his final argur:;ent in the punishment sta;e cf 
the Applicant's trial, Mock ar;ued to the jury that nothing could 
be done to bring the decedent back to life and that his wife had 
s1.<f fered a terrible loss. · 

3 8. Mock explained that this argument was essential if 
the jury was to think that he r.ad any credibility. 

39. To the extent that this argur.ient .,.as not at all 
calculated to convince the j~ry that the ar.swers to any of the 
specia~ issues should have been resolved in the ~pplicant's favor, 
the Court find~ that no strategic val~P could have been served as 
a result of this argur:;ent • 

40. During his final arsu::;ent to the jury during the 
punish::oent stage of tl-.e Applicant's trial, Kyles argued to the 
jury without objection that, "[T]he problem th~t I r.ave with this 
kir.d of case is that you have had an opportunity to focus on the 
~efendant, but you have never had a chance to know the victim. 
~hat do you know about Frank Hall?• 

41. Kyles then reminded the jury ~ithout objection that the 
cecedent was a good man who provided not only for his family but 
for his wife's sons by her first marriage, that he worked three 
jobs, and that he was a volunteer fireman and ar.~ulance driver. 

42. Kyles than reminded the jury at length without 
objection to thir.k about the grief of the decedent's family,- the 
tears that they shed upon learning of the decedent's death, every 
night before they, the jurors, went tc;> b~d. ____ _ 

423 
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~3. Kyles then told t~e jury without objection that. •[Ilf 
there is some focus of attention on sorne person, think about Frank 
Hal 1. Think about his good works. Don't foe: us on the f acp cf 
this killer [Applicant].• 

44. Moc:k stated that he did not objec:t to Ky!"!s' argument 
rec:ounting the dec:edent's good works and the irnpac:t of his death 
on his farnily bec:ause he. did not believe that this argument was 
either helpful to the State or prejudicial to the Applicant •s 
defense. 

45. Moc:k also noted that he did not object to Xyles • 
argument, "'hic:h he had "probably" heard Xyles use in other cases. 
because he did not want the jury to be mad at him and that he 
could not think of any procedural vehicl~ er tactic to keep this 

F151 a:;urnent out without alienating the jury. 

F152 

F153 

F154 

F155 

F156 

46. Moc:k did not re:r:e=er which cf 
"'hi ch K:i-·les' arg..,,.ne~t was relevant and it 
that the spec:ial issues "'ere desi;ned 
attention on the conduc:t of the defendant. 

the spec:ial issues to 
was r.ot Mock's belief 
to foc:us the jury's 

47. The Court finds that there was no sound strategic 
r~ason for Mock not to have objected to Kyles' ar;urnent, and that 
reascr.ably co::-.pe:ent defer.se counsel would nave objected to it. 

48. The Court finds that Mock's failure to file a pre-trial 
motion in li~~ne, partScu:arly w~ere he acknowledged hearing Kyles 
make this sa~e t:~e of fir.al argur.ent in othe: cases. designed to 
precluoe Kyles fror.'I making this type of v:ic:tir.i-impact argu;:'lent, 
and his subse;~ent failure to cbject to Kyles• argument so as to 
p:-eserve the r..atter for appellate review, was clearly deficient 
pe:-fo:-r.;ance. 

49. T~e Court finds that Moc:k's· general trial strategy of 
not objecting to the Sta:e's use of either patently ir.acrn!ssible 
victirr.-ir..pact evicence or final argur..ent for fear of making the 
jury ~ad at him within the context of a death penalty-case was 
funda~entally unsound. 

so. The Court finds that one ~ear prior to the ~pplicant's 
trial, the "victim-impact" final argument which John Xyles 
delivered in Bennett v. State, 677 S.W.2d 121 {Tex.App.--Houston 
[14th Dist.], {g 64), co~.pel Ied a reversal of the defendant's 
conviction after it was described by Justice Junell as "[C]learly 
speculative, and [was] calculated to inflarne. and prejudice [the 
jury] against the appellant [and was] outside the record ·and 
expressions of [Kyles'] personal opinion. Id. at 125-126. 
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CONCLUSIONS OP LAW 

l. Because the penalty of death is Q1Jalitatively different 
from a sentence of i~prisonrnent, however long, there is a 
corresponding difference i~ the need for reliabi-1-!ty in the 
determination that death is the appropriate punishment in a 
specific case. Woodson v. North Carolina, 428 u.s. 280 (1976). 

2. The qualititative diffPrPnce of death from all other 
p1.lnisr..ments requires a correspondingly greater de;:-ee of scnJtiny 
of the capital sentencing determination. California v. Ramos, 463 

C66 O.S. 992 (1983). 

C67 

C68 

3. It is of vital importance to the de!encant and to the 
co:n.-::unity that uiy decision to impose the death sentence be, and 

• appear to be, based on reason rather than caprice or emotion. 
Gardner v. Florida, 430 U.S. 349 (1977). 

4. Many of the limits that the United States Supre~e Court 
has p1aced on the imposition of capital punishment are rooted in 
concern that the sentencing process should facilitate the 
respc:;sible and reliable. exercise of sentencing discretion. 
Eddings v. Oklahoma, 455 O.S. 104 (1982) 1 Lockett v. Ohio, 438 
U.S. 566 tl91S); Gardner v. Florida, supra. 

5. A jury zr.ust 27.ake an "ind ividua 1i zed deternir:a t ion• 
... ::ether the ce!'encant in q\;estion stoula be executed, based on 
"the c1';a:-acter of the indivich.:al and the circur.:stances of the 
c:irne." Zant· v. Stephens, 462 o.s. 862 (1983) (Emphasis in 

C69 original). 

C70 

C71 

C72 

6. Tr.e United States Supre~e Court has consistently 
recog::ized that for purposes of ir.·posing the ceath per:alty, the 
ce!'er:cant • s p· . .m i sh::':ent must be tailored to his personal 
respc:isibility a:id moral guilt. Enmund v. Florida, 458 U.S. 782 
(1982): Tison v. Arizona, 481 U.S. 137 (BS7). 

7. As long ago as lSOl, the Court of Criminal Appeals had 
held that· the admission of testimony as to the number and ages of 
the decedent's child:-en was reversible error since this testimony 
...:as solely, intended to excite the sympathy of the of the jury and 
to preiudice them against the defendant.. Faulkner v. State, 65 
s.w. 1093 (Tex.Crim.App. 1901). 

s. For the last nir.ety years, the Court of Criminal 
Appeals _has consistently held that the type of testimony e~icit~d 
by the State at the gu1lt or innocence state of the ~pplican~ a 
trial ""'ithout objection by defer:se counsel and exploit~d .during 
the final argu::ient at the punislu:'ierit stage of the Appl1cant'a 
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trial b~ the State without objeetion by defense counsel is both 
wholly improper and patE'ntly :inad..ilissil:>le. See e.g. Allen v. 
State, 278 s.w. 201 (T~x.Cri~.App. 1925) (Ad.miiSTonor testimony 
t~at decedent left be~lnd Wlfe and five children aged six to 
sixteen irrelevan7 a1;d lm::-~terial as tending only to arouse jury'• 
sympathy and preJ\Jdlee them against the defendant)T Goolsby v. 
State, 15 S.W.2d 1052 (Tex.Crim.App. 1929) (Testimony that 
cececent 's wife and baby left without support as a result of 
defendant's bad aets :ir.adrr.issible)1 Ainsworth v. State, 56 S.W.2d 
457 (Tex.Crim.App. 1933) (Reversible error to permit son of 
decedent to tE'stify that his mother was left with eight children 
and that they were poverty-stricken)1 Elizondo v. State, 94 s.w.2d 
457 (Tex.Crim.App. 1936) (Reversible error for prosecutor to ask 
defendant how many children he made orphans of when he killed the 
decedent) 1 Eckels v. State, 220 S.W.2d 175 (Tex.Crim.App. 
1949) (Error to acmlt testimony that decedent had a wife and five 

a children)r Cavarru.bio v. State, 267 S.W.2d 417 (Tex.Crim.App. 
1954) (Error to acm1t testimony as to nurr~er of children decedent'• 
widow had)r Cadenhead v. State, 369 S.W.2d 44 (Tex.Crim.App. 
1963) (1\evers H51e error to adrr.lt testimony by l":'iother of decedent 
that he was the sole support of her and her husband). 

9. The Court of Criminal J.ppeals has held that testimony 
from the decedent's widow in a capital murder case that he was a 
peaceful, hardworking rr.an, who had been r..arried for twenty-two 
yea:-s and left behind five children was not relevant to any of the 
special issues presented to the jury and because it was elicit~d 
for no other purpose than to infla~e the jury and to arose their 
sy;;-.pathy, the defendant's death sentence had to be set aside. 
Armstrong v. State, 718 s.w.2d 686 (Tex.Cri~.App. 1985). 

10. While the Court of Crirr.inal Appeals has held that it 
was error to admit testimony virtually identical to that 
introduced without objection in the Applicant's trial because it 
"had no bearing whatsoever on any rr.aterial issue in the case and 
its sole purpose was to inflame the minds of the jury,• the Court 
also held that defense counsel's failure to lodge a timely and 
specific objection to this testimony ....-aived the error.- Vela. v. 

C74 State, 516 S.W.2d 176 (Tex.Crim.App. 1974). 

C75 

11. But the Fifth Circ\Jit Co\Jrt of Appeals later set aside 
the defendant's couviction on ineffective assistance of counsel 
grounds given defense cour.sel 's failure to lodge a t irr.ely and 
specific object ion to this testimony, an error it described as 
"funda~ental, revealing ignorance of one of the rnost basie rules 
of Texas procedure." Vela v. Estelle, 7 08 F. 2d 954 (5th C_ir. 
19 83). 
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12. T~e Fifth Circu~t .held that defense counsel's failure 
~o lo?ge. a tim~~Y andftspec:1£1: objection to the State's patently 
ir.adr.:1ss1ble ev.ioence ... fell be.i.ow the range of competency demandeod 
of attorneys in criminal cases• and •resulted in actual and 
sutstantial disadvantage to the cause of [the _gefendant's] 
defe~se.• Vela v. Estelle, supra. 

13. To the extent that Mock did not object to either the 
State's introduction of victim-impact evidenc:f' at the guilt er 
innoc:encf' stage of the Applicant's trial or its vi ct im-impaet 
based final ar;ument during the punishment stage of the trial en 
the grounds that he did not believe he could lodge a •valid legal 
objection" thereto, the Court concludes that Mock's ignorance cf 
over ninety years of well-settled Texas precedent did not fall 
within the "wide range of professional assistance.• Strickland v. 

.Washington, supra; Vela v. Estelle, supra. 

14. To the extent that Mock premise~ his failure to objeet 
to the State's use of victim-i~pact evidence and fir.al argument at 
both stag es of the J..ppl j cant's trial on what he believed to be 
trial strate;y, the Court concludes that Mock's "trial strategy• 
to admit this evidence ar.d arg",Jrroent ""as funda:::-:entally unsound. 
ir.as~uch as tr.ere could have been no sound strategic value in Mock 
having passed over the adwission of prejudicial and clearly 
ir.acmissible evidence and fir.al argu~ent. Lyons v. Mccotter. 770 
F.2d 5.29 (5th Cir. 1S85): Ex parte Wefborn, 785 S.\A:.2d 391 
('Tex.Crim.A;::p. 1990): Miller v. State, 728 S.W.2d 133 
(Tex.App.--Houston [14th Dist.), BS7). 

15. To the extent t2":at Mock's. pre::-:ised his failure to 
object to the victim-impact evidence and argu~ent at both stages 
of the Applicant's tr:ial on trial strate;y, the Court concludes 
tr.at tr.is exp1anation was clearly at ocds with what he had earlier 
noted at the evidentiary }:earing was his long-standing poliey 
r.ever to let tf:e State elicit this type of testimony and argument 
beca~se it "irreparably" ca~aged the accused. See Long v. State, 
764 S.W.2d 30 (Tex.App.--san Antonio, 1989) (The---;u)owing aarnlssion 
of evidence that is at odds with defense counsel •-a "trial 
strate;y" is "objectively unreasonabl~" and constitutes 
"objectively deficient" perforrnanc~.). 

16. Because no reasonably competent att.orney exercising 
professional jud"grnent could have failed to object to the State's 
use of victim-impact evidence and argument at both stages of the 
Applicant's trial, Lyons v. Mccotter, supra, Vela v. Estelle,, 
supra, the Court concluces that Rock's ~onouct was both oefic~ent 
ana prejuducial to the Applicant. Strickland v. Washington,, 
supra: Perkins v. State, 771 S. W. 2d 195 (Tex •. App.--Houston ilst 
Dist.], 1$6q), affirmed, 812 s.w.2d 326 (Tex.Crim.App. 1991). 

' ,., 9 'l .l 
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. 17 •. A capital ~entencing proceeding is sufficiently like a 
trial i~ ~ts advers~r1al forrnat and in the existence of standard• 
for dec1slon that oefense counsel's role in the proceeding i• 
comparable to defense counsel's role at trial--to ensure that the 
adversarial testing process works to produce a just result under 
the standards governing decision. Strickland v. Washington, 
supra: Lankford v. Idaho,~ U.S.~' 111 S.Ct. 17~ (1;31) •. 

18. In view of defense counsel's wholesale failure to 
object to the State's use of victim-irnpact evidence and ar;Ur.\ent 
as set forth above, the Co"Urt concl'Udes that but for defense 
counsel's deficient performance, a reasonable probability exists 

• that the O'Utcome of the proceedings at the p1.mish..-:ient stage of the 
Applicant's trial would have been different. Ex parte Gi.lz.mon, 730 
s.w.2d 724 (Tex.Crirn.A~p. 1987)1 Wilson v. Ke-""'!P, 777 F.2a 621 
(11th Cir. 1985). 

19. The Court concludes that def enseo co"Unsel 's failure to 
object to the State's use of vict!m-irnpact evicence and argument 
as set forth above caused a breakdown in the adversarial process 
that our system counts upon to produce just results, a breakdown 
sufficient to undermine confidence in the outcome of the 
proceedings, Strickland v. Washington, supra, so as to call into 
q-~estion tr.e rellablllty.of the ~ury 1 s vercict at the pu:nishlnent 
stage of the Applicant's trial. See Woodson v. North Carolina, 
supra. 

20. Although the Responc~nt contends that the prosecution's 
victirn-i~pact arg~~e:nt at the punish.~e:nt stage of the Applicant'• 
trial was both a proper response to defer:se counsel's earlier 
arcu~ent, inter alia, that tr.e decedent was a good man who was a 
value to the cor.~"';'lu:nity or pc>rrr.issible under the "invited argument• 
doctrine, the Court concludes that both contentions are untenable 
si~ply because it was defe~se counsel's own deficient performance 
which p1acec the prosecution in a pos!tio:n to either respond to 
de!'ense cour:sel 's earlier arguPent or to avail itself of the 
"invited arou~ent" doctrine. See Ex parte Gi.lzmon, supra. -
("Def er:se 'e:;.icence' that applicant was a •.,.·et-back' whose tu tu re 

bel":avior was unpredictable and who refused to take resp_o:nsibility 
for his act :ons seems to have but tressed the State' a case on 
punishr.ient rather than refuting it.•). 

20. Although the United States Suprerr.e Court had held that 
the Eighth ~r..endment barred the admission of victim-impact 
evidence during the punishr.lent stage of a capital murder trial. 
Booth v. Maryland, 482 U.S. 496 (1987) as well as the State's use 
of vlct1m-1rr.pact argu~ent during the punishment stage of a capital 
murder trial, South Carolina v. Gathers, 490 U.S. 805 (1989), the 
Suprerr.e Court cNerruleo both of ti':ese holdings in Payne v. 
Tennessee, U.S. , 111 S.Ct. 25_97 (1991) • ____ _ 
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21. In ~verrul ing both Ca the rs and Booth, however. the 
Sup:e:ne Court did not. hold that v1ct:.m-impact evidence !n1JSt be 
~emitted or ev~n that it s~ould be acrnitted but mer•ly held that 
if a State decides to permit consideration of that evidence, the 
Ii;hth A.~endment •rects no per se bar. Payne v. Tennessee. aupra. 

. . 22. In view of o-:rer 9 0 rears of precedent from- the Court of 
Criminal Appeals holding this type of evidence and argument 
inadmissible, the Co1Jrt concl1Jd"s t~1at the holding of the United 
States Supreme Court in Payne v. Tennessee. supra, does ~ot 
require the admission of v1ctl?r.-irr.pact evidence during the 
pcr.1sF.ment stage of a capital murder case in Texas and that this 
Court and the Court of Criminal Appeals are free to interpret 
Article I. Section 13 of the Texas Constitution in a manner 
consistent with this line of cases. Heitman v. State. S.W.2d 
~' Tex.Crim.App. No. 1380-89 (Deliverea June 26, ig;1r:---

. 23. Although the Respondent contends that the prosecution's 
use of vict!=.-i~pact •vicence and a1;ument at the punis~ent stage 
of the Applicant's trial ~as permissible as "circurnstances of the 
offe::se," see Miller-El v. State, 782 S.W.2d 892 (Tex.Crim.App. 
1990), the-COurt re~ects this contention and concludes that the 
v:ictim-ir..pact evidence and a:rgurner.t adduced by the Stateo had no 
bearir.g on the Applicant's personal responsibility and moral 
;uilt, see Stavinoha v. State, 808 ~.W.2d 76 (Tex.Crim.App. 1991), 
so as ~rer.de: lt acirn1ss1ble during the punish.~ent sta;e of the 

css Applicant's trial. Armstrong v. State, supra. 

C89 

C90 

C91 

24. Because the vict:rr.-irnpact ev~dence and argurnent 
utilized by the State created far to6 great a risk that the death 
sentence i~posed upon the Applicant was based upon caprice and 
e~c::on rather than reason, Gardner v. Florida, supra, and was the 
type of ev:.cence which did not prov:ce a "principled way ·to 
ciistir:cuish [cases) in which the ceath penalty was imposed, from 
the ~a~y cases in which it was not," Godfrey v. Georgia, 446 U.S. 
420 (1980), the Court concludes that cefer.se cour.sel's failure to 
object to this evidence and arg1.ment cenied the Applicant the 
effect~ve assistance of counsel during the punishment stage of his 
trial. Ex parte Guzmon. supra. 

. 25. In seeking habeas corpus relief. the Applicant assumes 
the burden of proving his factual allegations by a preponderanc~ 
of the evidence. Ex parte Salinas, supra. 

26. Eecause the Applicant has demonstrated by a 
preponderance of the evidence that when the totality of defense 
counsel's representation is viewed in conjunction with those other 
failings of counsel as set forth in Section B, supra, and in 
Sections G, H, and r, infra, he was denied the effective 
ass:istance of counsel. the I.curt teco.rnr.:ends that habeas corpus 
relief in this regard be ";RANT£D. 

A.., ..., 
.L ..l { 
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FINDING 

F12 

F13 

F14 

F15 

F16 

F17 

F18 

Fl9 

F20 

F21 

F22 

F23 

F24 

F25 

F26 

F27 

F28 

F29 

F30 

F31 

F32 

F33 

F34 

F35 

F36 

FINDINGS OF FACT 

TAB3 

PAGE NO. PARAGRAPH NO. RECORD REFERENCE 

4 1 SF III, 265 

4 2 SF III, 292-93, 303 

4 3 AX48 

4 4 AX48 

4 5 AX48 

4 6 SF III, 303 

4 7 _SR I, 170 

4 8 -----

4 9 -----

5 10 SF I, 92-93 

5 11 SF I, 98 

5 12 SF I, 94-95 

5 13 SF II, 121-22 

5 14 SF II, 123 

5 15 SF II, 124 

5 16 SF II, 125-26 

5 17 SF II, 127 

5 18 SF III, 45-54 

6 19 SF VII, 45-54 

6 20 SF VII, 45-54 

6 21 SF VIII, 16, 23 

6 22 SF VIII, 22 

6 23 SF VIII, 24-25 

6 24 SF VIII, 25 

6 25 SF VIII 36 
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FINDING 

F37 

F38 

F39 

F40 

F41 

F42 

F43 

F44 

F45 

F46 

F47 

F48 

F49 

F50 

F51 

F52 

F53 

F54 

F55 

F56 

F57 

F58 

PAGE NO. 

6 

7 

7 

7 

7 

7 

7 

7 

8 

8 

8 

8 

8 

8 

8 

8 

8 

9 

9 

9 

9 
) 

9 

PARAGRAPH NO. RECORD REFERENCE 

26 SF VIII, 37 

27 SF VIII, 40-41 

28 SF VIII, 44-45 

29 SF III, 258-63 

31 SF III, 258-63 

32 SF III, 260-61 

33 SF III, 266-67 

34 SF III, 266-68 

35 AX48 

36 SF III, 269-70 

37 ·SF III, 170 

38 AX35 

39 SF III, 272-75 

40 SF III, 275-76 

41 SF III, 276-77 

42 SF III, 277 

43 AX40 

44 AX 34, 40 

45 AX34 

46 SR 

47 SR 

48 SR 

2 
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F192 

_j 

F193 

F194 

F. DEFENSE COUNSEL'S FAILURE TO REQUEST AN ANTI-PARTIES CHARGE 

FINDINGS OP FACT 

. 1. ~uring th~ guilt o: innocence stage of t..he Applicant'• 
tr1al, the Jury was instructed on the law of parties and the law 
of criminal responsibilitr for the conduct of another pursuant to 
V.T.C.A. Penal Code, Sect1ons 7.01 • 7.02, respectively. 

2. During the punishment stage of the trial, the court 
failed to instruct the jury not to consider the law of parties and 
the law of criminal responsibility for the conduct of another in 
answering the three special issues. See Green v. State, 682 
S.W.2d 271 (!ex.Crim.App. 1984). 

3. Although defense counsel submitted a specially 
re~~ested charge telling the jury that they could not consider the 
law of parties in answering the three special issues, the Court of 
Criminal Appeals found on direct appeal that that defense counsel 
•failed to object to the exclusion of a Green instruction from the 
charge." Westley v. State, 754 S.W.2d 2~4 (Tex.Cri~.App. 1988). 

4. The Court of Criminal Appeals held that defense 
counse'l '& request for a Green instruction was not timely and. 
failed to apprise the court to the defect in its charge to the 
jury and that pursuant to Almanza v. State, 686 S.W.2d 157 
(Tex.Crim.App. 1985), de!ense counsel's fa1lure to timely object 
\o:aived all but fundamental error. Westley v. State, supra. 

s. The Court of Cri~inal Appeals held that the Applicant 
was ·not egregiously harmed by the a.bsence of a Green instruction 
to the jury during the punis~~ent stage of his trial inasmuch as 
the ev idenc:e at trial sho...,ed that tl':e Applicant's conduct was 
directly responsible for the death of the decedent. Westley v. 
State, supra. See also Nichols v. State, 754 s.w.2~ 185 
(7ex.Cri~.hpp. 198~ ~ 

6. The Court finds that no sound strategic purpose could 
have been se:-ved by de!ense counsel waiting until after the jury 
had reached a verdict as to punishment before subrn1 tting their 
reouest for a Green instruction and that reasonably competent 
counsel would have ensured that such a charge \o:aS timely sought. 

7. The Court finds t~at the prosecution did not invite the 
jury curing its final argur..ent in the ?unishrnent stage of the 
Applicant's to apply the law of parties in answering the special 
issues but arcued instead that the Applicant should be judged as 
the principal -actor in determining hi~ p~nishrnent. See "!estley v. __ 
State, supra. 
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FINDINGS OF FACT 

TAB4 

FINDING PAGE NO. PARAGRAPH NO. RECORD REFERENCE 

F188 42 1 AX 11 

F189 42 2 AX 11 

F190 43 3 AX 11 

F191 43 4 AX 11 

F192 43 5 AX 11 

F193 43 6 SF VII, 93-95 

F194 43 7' 
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F195 

F196 

F197 

F198 

F199 

F200 

F201 

F202 

F203 

F204 

G DEFENSE COUNSEL'S FINAL } UMENT DURING 
TH.... PUNISHMENT STAGE OF THE APPuIC>.~'S TRIAL 

FINDINGS OF PACT 

1. During his final argument in the punish.":ient stagp of 
the Appl Scant' s trial, lead defense counsel P.on Nock told the jury 
that he "would not ir.sult yo~r intelligence by telling you that 
Anthony Westley will rehabilitate himself.• 

2. In discussing the Applicant •s prior cri:r.inal history, 
Mock told the jury that the Applicant had been given several 
chances but that he had •blown it.• 

3. Mock felt that the strategic ~alue of this argument ~as 
prer.sed on the need to a~~it that the Applicant •was not a hero• 
and not to •vouch for the ability of somebody to rehabilitate 
themself.• 

4. The Court finds that no sound trial strategy could have 
- been served by ~akin; this argwnent inasmuch as Mock's assertion 

tl':at the Applicant would never rehabilitate himself could only 
have served to bolst~r the State's argument that the Applicant was 
in fact a continuing threat to society. · 

S. After argu!r.g that the Applicant was not being tried 
"for a case of felony dur..b ass,• Mock told the jury that it was 
i~possible to "e=ase the scars of a rob~ery" or "the rne~ory of a 
gun pointed in your nose or to your head and so~eor.e telling you 
'G!ve me your money, mothe=fucker,•• even though the Applicant did 
not ~se this type of langua;e during the primary offense. 

6. Mock noted that the strategic value of rr.aking this type 
of argu~ent wa~ to make the jurors a~are that being the victim of 
an agg=avated robbery was not na pleasant experience,• and that 
this type of a=gu~ent was calcu:ated to make the jury more 
s;y.;-.z;a thetic to the Applicant. 

7. The Court finds that no sound trial strategy could have 
been se=ved by ~aking this t~e of arguwent as it only could have 
se:ved to not only reinforce in the minds of the jurors the 
gravity of the prirr.ary cf f ense ir.sofar as its eel iber-a te nature 
... ·as concerned but to bolster the State's argument that the 
Applicant was in fact a continuing threat to society as well. 

8. 1 During his final argur.ient in the punishment stage of 
the Applicant's ,trial, Mock continually bolstered the character of 
both the surviving victim and the decedent in the primary case 
but the victims of the unadjudicated aggravated robberies as well. 

9. V.ock noted that the strateg:ic: value of rr.aking ·this 
argument lay in his belief that the more positive things that the 
jury knew about the victim, the more sympathetic they .lolOuld-feel- -
to~ards the .Applicant. 

10. The Cou~t finds that no sound trial strategy could have 
been served by this type of argur.ient inasmuch CiS it was not only 
not reasonably calculated to foster syrnpathy for the Applicant but 
it oper.ed the door fo,- the State to respond with an otherwise 
improper vie t irr.-irr.pact a rgcr.-oen t as well. 
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FINDINGS OF FACT 

TABS 

FINDING PAGE NO. PARAGRAPH NO. RECORD REFERENCE 

F195 44 1 SF VI, 236 

F196 45 2 SF VI, 234-35 

F197 45 3 SF VI, 236 

F198 45 4 SF VIII, 64-74, 98-101 

F199 45 5 SF VI, 195-99 
. ) 
. ! 

,_ J F200 45 6 SF VI, 199-201 

F201 45 7 SF VIII, 64-74, 98-101 

F202 45 8 SF VIII, 64-74, 98-101 

F203 45 9 SF VIII, 64-74, 98-101 

F304 45 10 SF VIII, 64-74, 98-101 

F205 46 11 SF VIII, 64-74, 98-101 

F206 46 12 SF VIII, 64-74, 98-101 

F207 46 13 SF VIII. 64-74. 98-101 

---------·=·····~~-----
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F299 

F300 

F301 

F302 

F303 

F304 

F305 

F306 

F307 

F308 

F309 

B. NON-O'TSCLOSURE OF THE SUPPLEMENI''~Y OFFENSE REPORT 

FINDINGS OF FAr::T 

l. On Jan"Uary 23, 1985, Deborah Eubanks Youn; testified 
for the prosec"Ution in the ag;ravated robbery trial of John Dale 
Henry, tr.e Applicant's co-ce!er.dant. 

2. On February 13, 1985, Youn; was surr~oned to the Harris 
County District Attorneiy's Office- to meet with pr~c"Utor John 
Kyles and District Attorney's Investi;ator Jim Jackson as part cf 
the prosecution's pre-trial preparaticn for the Applicant's trial. 

3. J<yles recounted that one of the purposes of thia 
meet:in; was to show a photographic array of f irearrns to Youn; to 
determine if she would be able to identify the t~e of firearm 
that the Applicant "~as kr.own to carry.• 

4. The photographic array Jackson put to;ether and which 
was shown to Youn; at this ~eetir.g contained six guns including a 

•• 22 caliber cowboy style gun, a .357 caliber ,,.-eapon, and a 
Oerrir.;er. 

5. Ky~es believed that a photo;ra~hic array was the 
fairest opportunity to test Youn;'s ability to icentify the weapon 
the Applicant had possessed. 

5. Although cowboy style guns come in a nu~ber of 
differer.t calibers, the only cowboy style gun in the photographic 
array Young v!e~ed was the .22 caliber model. 

6. After viewing the photographic array, Young identified 
.what was eventually admitted at the Applicant's trial as State's 
Exhibit 17 [Applicant's Exhibit 21] as a photograph of a .,.-eapon 
~just like" the one the Applicant had used. 

7 •. When State's 
adrr.itted at the trial 
icentified it as being 
firearm. 

£xhibit 17 had been previously offered and 
of John Dale Henry, C.E. Anderson had 
either a .357, a .38, or a .22 caliber 

S. During the Applicant's trial, Anderson testified that 
the firearm depicted in State's £xhibit 17 was a .22 calib~r Ruger 
style single action revolver. 

9. After examining Anderson's baU is tics report, Floyd 
McDonald, the Applicant's expert witness on firearms and 
ballistics concluded that the weapon depicted in State's Exhibit 
17 could not have been the weapon· that fired the fatal shot in 
this case because a Ru;er style revolver has six •1ands and 
grooves" and the bullet that killed the 4ecedent had eight •1a~ds 
and grooves.• 

10. McDonald's conclusion is consistent with the fact that---~ _ 
A:iaerson 's coi7:puter search to determine what weapons could have 
fired the fatal shot did &~t include the Ruger he had identified 
as State'~ ixhibit 17 at the Applicant's trial. 
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F312 

F3t3 

F314 

F315 

i 
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F316 

F317. 

F318 

F319 

F320 

11. Al t •. ...iu;h he lll tima tely a;reed ...,~th Anderson's testimony 
at the Appl:icant 's trial, McOonald pointed out that it would be 
extremely diff ieult to determine from a sice view alone wr.ether 
State's Exhibit 17 was a .22 or a .357 caliber ~eapon. 

12. After Young picked State's Exhibit 17 out of the 
photo~raphic array, she was asked by Kyles if she knew the type 
and caliber of the weapon she had just identified ~having been 
used by t~e Applicant. 

13. In response to Kyles' inquiry, Young statt"d that the 
~eapon the Applicant possessed during the corr.mission of the 
pri~ary offense ~as a •1arge calibt"r ~eapon, either a .38 or .357 
caliber," and that she "knew it was larger than a .22 caliber.• 

14. The state~ents Young ~ade in the presenee of Kyles and 
:Oackson were rr.e~orialized in a document styled "Supplerr.entary 
Offense Report" and which was adrritted at the evicentiary hearing 
as Applicant's Exhibit 49. 

15. On February 25, 19 SS, the trial court granted that 
portion of defense counsel's Motion for Discovery and Inspection 
which sought, inter al ia. "Any evidenee or information in the 
possession or control of the State of Texas or known to the agents 
of the State which is inconsistent with the guilt of the 
Defendant, or wh1ch m1gnt tend to ameliorate the punishirient of the 
Defendant in the event of a £1naing of guilt." (E~phas1s acceQ). 

16. At the evidentiary hearing, Ron Mock initially 
testified that the prosecution never proviced him with a copy of 
Applicant's Exhibit 49 prior to trial. 

17. Mock noted that it would have been extremely helpful to 
have had Applicant's Exhibit 49 at the A"pplicant 's trial as it not 
only would have ~seful for purposes of irr.peaching Youn;, but to 
generally discredit the State's theory of the ease. 

18. Mock also noted that the contents of Applicant's 
Exhibit 49 would have been helpful during the punishment stage cf 
the Applicant's trial in convincing the jury that the third 
special issue should be ar.s~ered in the negative. 

19. After testifying that he might ]:lave seen Applicant's 
Exhibit 49 if it was in the State's file, Mock again reaffirmed 
his earl~er testimony that he had never seen the exhibit before 
ac:nittin; that) the passage of time rnade it possible that he was 
simply unable to :rerr.ember if in fact he had ever seen it. 

20. Reca:rdless of whether or not Mock had seen Applicant'• 
Exhibit 49, t~e record of the ~pplicant's trial reveals that-Moek 
never made use of it during his cross-examination of Young or at 
any other t irne during the proceeding~ __ ·- _ 

21. Neithe: does the record at the Applicant's trial 
aff:irr..at1vely refl.:.ct· that Mock either asked for or was furnished 
wii~-~-c~py of Appliiant's Exhibit 49. 
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5. Assuming without deciding that Applicant-t-g Exhibit 49 
~as actually tendered to cefense counsel, the Court concludes that 
defense counsel's failure to utilize -it for irr.peachrnent purposes 
as set forth above clearly constituted deficient performance 
ir.asr.:uch as no sound trial strategy could have been served by 
defer.se counsel's failure in this regard. Black v. State, supra 1 
Ex parte Guzmon, supra1 Ex parte Walker, supra. 

6. Assuming without deciding that Applicant's Exhibit '9 
~as actually tendered to defense counsel, the Court concludes that 
but for defense counsel's deficient per!orr..ance in failing to 
·utilize it for irr.peachr.ent purposes, a reasonable probability 
exists that the outcome of the proceedings at the punishment sta~e 
of the ~pplicant's trial would have been different. Ex parte 
Guzmon~ supra1 Ex parte Walker, supra1 Cooper v. State, 769 s.w.2d 
)Ol (fex.App.--Ho~ston [1st Dist.), 1989). -

7. In seeking habeas co:-pus relief. the Appl .icant bears 
the burden of proving his factual allegations by a preponderanef' 
of the ev.idence. Ex parte Salicas, supra. 

8. Because the Applicant has demonstrate-d by a 
preponderance of the evidence that the State's failure to disclose 
that impeacl-.Pent mate-rial contained in Applicant's E:xhibit 49, 
evidence material to the jury's resolution of the third special 
issue during the punish..~ent stage of the Applicant's trial. 
violated both state and federal due process considerations, or in 
the alte.!'native, that defense counsel's failure to utilize this 
exnibit for i~peachrnent purposes in the event that it had in fact 
been disclosed to him denied him effective assistance of couns~l, 
the Court recon•.ends that habeas co:-pus relief as to this ground 
be GRANI'ED. 
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FINDING 

F324 

F325 

F326 

F327 

F328 

F329 

F330 

F331 

F332 

F333 

F334 

F335 

F336 

F337 

FINDINGS OF FACT 

TAB6 

PAGE NO. PARAGRAPH NO. RECORD REFERENCE 

70 1 SF VIII, 80-85 

70 2 SF III, 79, 131 

70 3 SF III, 134-37, 304 

70 4 SF III, 137-39 

70 5 SF III, 139 

71 6 SF III, 139-140 

71 7 SF III, 140-41 

71 8 SF III, 141 

71 9 SF III, 143 

71 10 SF III, 158 

71 11 SF III, 303-04 

71 12 SF III, 304 

71 13 App. Ex. 31 

71 14 Ann. Ex. 31 
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11. Althou;h the ballistics repo:t conducted by C.E. 
Ance:scn ar.d subse~uently analyzed by Floyd McDor.ald revealed that 
the R~;er .22 cepicted in State's £xhibit 17 coul~ not have fired 
the bullet that killed the dececent, Kyles stated that he would be 
"su::-prised" if this finding 'lole:e in fact correct_. 

12. lf, however, it was true that tr.e Ruger could not h&ve 
fired the fatal shot, Kyles acmitted that it "'ould have been 
misleading to r.ave told the jury that State-'s Exhibit 17 either 
.,,..as in fact the murcer weapon or looked like the murder weapon. 

13. In ur;ing the jury to find that the Applicant had fired 
the shot that killed the decedent, Kyles referred the jury during 
his final ar;u~ent, inter alia, to the testimony of c.E. Anderson. 

14. Kyles also argued to the jury that Young had identified 
the gun the Applicant had threatened her with "as being a cowboy 
loo.king gun, a .22.• 

CONCLUSIONS OF LAW 

l. ln the interest of judicial economy, the Court hereby 
incorporates by reference those Conclusions of Law which appear in 
Sections A and B, supra. 

2. It is axiomatic that the Fourteenth Ar.lendment req\lires 
that a cef endant 's conviction be set aside when the prosecution 
"although not· soliciting false evidence, allows it to go 
uncorrected when it appears.• Giles v. Maryland, 386 o.s. 66 
(1967). 

3. Reversible error is also committed 'lolhere the prosecutor 
negli;ently or inadvertently fails to disclose evidence which may 
exor.erate the accused or which rnay be of ~aterial irr.portance to 
the defense, e-ven though it is not offered as testimony at trial 
~nd even though defense counsel is not diligent in his prceparation 
for trial. Crutcher v. State, supra: Means v. State, supra. 

4. That Kyles professed an unawateness that the .22 
caliber ~uger depicted in State's £xhibit 17 was virtually 
indistinguishabl~ from a .357 when- viewed merely from a 
photo;ra~hic siae view is irrelevant as this knowledge that C.E. 
Ande:son, as a member of "the prosecution team" had of this 
evidence is imputed to Kyles. Ex parte Ada.ms, suprar O'Rarden v. 
State, supra. 

S. That Kyles was u:r.aware ;ha~ .Anderson had previousl_y_-"-- _ 
testified at the Henry trial that State's Exhibit 17 could have 
been a .22, .357, or .38 caliber handgun is irrelevant as the 

-knowledge of both Kroeker and .AndPrson of this evidence is imputed 
to Kyl-es. Ex parte Adams, supra1 O'Rarden v. State, supra. 
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6. If the prosecution's use of false or misleading 
testimony could •in any reasonablf' likelihood have afft"cted the 
judg::-;ent of the jury" at either sta.ge of the proceedings, due 
process requires the g:anting of a r.ew trial. Giglio v. United 
States, supraJ Ex parte Ada.ms, supra. 

7. In view of that other e-v.idence from be.th the Henry 
trial and the Applicant's trial tending to show that the Applicant 
possessed a .357 caliber weapon, the Court concludes that the jury 
would have found the State's case as to punishr.lent •significantly 
less persuasive," cf. Schneble v. Florida, 405 u.s. 427 (l.972) • 
had the prosecution not rr.acie use of State-' s Exhil?i t 17 as set 
forth ·above to convince the jury that the Appl 2cant in fact 
possessed the • 22 ca 1 iber weapon capable of firing shot that 
killed the decedent. Ex parte Adams, supra1 Crutcher v. State, 
supra 7 Ex parte TUrner, 545 s.w.2a 47cr (Tex.Crim.App. 1377). 

8. Having evaluated the circumstances surrounding the 
prosecution's use of State's Exhibit 17 during the Applicant• a 
trial in the context of the entire record, the Court concludes 
that the cumulative effect ~f the prosecution's misleading use of 
State's E:xhibi t 17 during both the presentation of its case as 
well as during final argument ~as egregious enough to undermine 
confidence in the outc:ome of the proceedings at the punishment 
stage of the Applicant's trial. United States v. Bagley, supra1 l!!x 
parte Ada.1!'.s, supra1 Ex parte Brandley, supra. -

9. Because the constitutional princ:iple requiring the 
reversal of a defendant's convic:tion where the prosecution. 
although not solic:iting false evidence, permits it to go 
uncorrected when it appears, is mandated by both state end federal 
constitutional due process considerations, the rec:orr~endation of 
this Court is enforcing these rights •is not punishr.ient of society 
for r.iis.de>eds of a prosecutor but avoidance of an unfa.ir trial for 
the accused." Brady v. Maryland, supra1 ~ parte Adams. supra. 

10. In seeking habeas corpus relief, the Applicant bears 
the burden of proving his factual allegations by a preponderance. 
of the evidence. ZX parte Griff in, supra. 

11. Because the Applicant has demonstrated by a 
preponderance of the evidence that the circumstances surrounding 
the prose~ution's use of State's Exhibit 17 throughout the course 
of the A;t:plicant 's trial as set forth above violated those due 
process c:onsiderstions er.-.bodied in both the Fourteenth Amendment 
to the United States Constitution and Article I, Section 19 of the 
Texas Constitution, the Court reco~ends that habeas corpus relief 
as to this ground be GRANTED. 
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C. THE PRn~ECUTION'S MISLEADING USE c- STATE'S EXHIBIT 17 

FINDINGS OF FACT 

l. In the interest of iudkial Pcono~y, the Court hereby 
incorpo:atPs by re!erence those Findings of Fact ~hich appear in 
Section A, supra. 

2. Jc:hn Kyles aC..~i tted that he made no effort to St"cure 
any portion of the state~ent of facts fro~ t~e trial-0f John Dal• 
Henry, the Applicant's co-ce!endar.:, to dete:mine ~hat thos• 
witnPsses that he would call at the Applicant's trial haa 
p:ev:c~s:y testified to at the F.enry trial. 

3. In view of Anderson's testimony at the Henry trial that 
State's Exhibit 17 could have been a .22, a .357, or a .38 caliber 
har.d~un, Ky:es acrnitted that it was sorne~~at misleading for 
~nce:scn to have told the jury during the App~icant'a trial that 
State's Exhibit 17 was in fact a .22 ca~iber hand;un. 

4. Kyles acirnitted that in view of Anderson's earlier 
testir..o:iy that State's Exhibit 17 could have be-en any of three 
different caliber handguns, every State's witness who identifi~d 
State' Exhibit 17 as being like the weapon the Applicant possess~j 
rri£ht have been corroborating their earlier identification of the 
Applicant's gun as a .357. 

5. Kyles acknowledgPd that he used State's Exhibit 17 to 
rnake the point that the Applicant had a .22 caliber nandgun and 
that he used Anderson's testimony to drive home this point to the 
:ury during the Applicant's trial. 

6. Kyles acknowlec;ed that neither he nor any other member 
of the prcsecuticn team ever revealed to de!ense counsel that the 
photo;:aph er.bodied in State's Exhibit 17 that he used to advance 
the contention that the Applicant fired the fatal .22 caliber 
bullet was e~ally consistent with being a .357 caliber handgun. 

7. Even if he been informed of this fact by C.E. Anderson. 
Kyles would not have felt compelled to bring this fact to the 
attention· of defense counsel as he felt it was incumbent upon 
defense counsel •to investigate exactly what type of wea~ons those 
{in the photographic array] were.• 

s. Neither did Kyles feel that it was his responsibility 
to inform defense counsel of Anderson's prior testimony during the 
Eenry trial that State's Exhibit 17 could have been a .22, a .38, 
o:r a • 357 cal ib~r hanc;un "[a] s long as they were aware that Mr. 
Anderson was going to be out expert, and as long as they had the 
opportunity to view our exhibits.• 

9. Kyles aemitted that the fact that Anderson had 
previously testified during the Henry trial _that State's Exhibit 
17 could have been a .22, a .38, or a .357 caliber hand~un should-'- -
have been brou;ht to the jury's at tent io.n during the A~pl icant 'a 
trial. 

10. Kv:es admitted that although Young was never asked, and 
so did not t~stify whether the Applicant had a .22 caliber weapon, 
he had her cescribe his fi:-earm as a co...,boy style gun before 
;ettir.9 her to co~mit that it looked like State's Exhibit 17. · 
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B. NON-DTSCLOSURE OF THE SUPPL~...ENT' -:zy OFFENSE REPORT 

FINDINGS OF FACT 

l. On January 23 • 1985, Deborah Eubanks YounQ t~stif.i~d 
for the. prosecution in the a~s;;rc.vated robb~ry trial of Joh."l Dale 
Eenry, ·i:;~ Applicant• s co-ce: er.dant. 

2. On February 13, 1985, Young "'as surr.moned to the Harris 
County D:istr:ict Attornt>y's Officf' to meet with pr~cutor J'ohn 
~yles and Di~trfct Attor?ey•s !nvest:is;;ator Jim Jackson as part of 
the prosecution • pre-trial preparaticn for the Applicant's trial. 

3. Kyles recountt>d that one of the purposes of thi• 
~eet!ng ~as to show a photographic array of firean::s to Young to 
determine if she "'oulc be able to identify the t}'l'e of firearm 
tT.at tr.e ~pplicant "~as kr.own to carry.• 

4. The photo!;:-aphic a :-u.y Jackson put tos;;ether and which 
was sr.own to Youn9 at this ~eetir.9 contained six guns including a 

•• 22 caliber cc~boy style 9un, a .357 caliber ~eapon, and a 
De-.rrir.9er. 

s. ~y:.es believed that a photos;;raFhic array ""as the 
fairest opportur.ity to test Youn~·s ability to icentify the ~eapon 
tr.e hfplicant had pcssessed. 

5. Although cowboy style guns come in a nur.ber of 
oifferer.t calibers, the only cowboy style gun in the photographic 
array Young v!e~ed ~as the .22 caliber rr.odel •. 

6. After viewing the photographic array, Young identified 
-~hat was eventually acmitted at the Applicant'& trial as State's 
Exhibit 17 [Applicant •s Exhibit 21] as a photograph of a \o:eapon 
~just like~ the one the ~pplicant had used. 

~= ?,~ When State's 
adrr.itted at the trial 
icentified it as being 
firearm. 

Exhibit 17 had been previously offered and 
of John Dale Henry·, c. E.- Anderson had 
either a .357, a .38, or a .22 caliber 

8. During the Applicant's trial, Anderson testified that 
the firearm cepicted in State's Exhibit 17 was a .22 caliber Ruger 
style sin;le action revolver. 

9. 'After examining Anderson'& ba~l is tics report, Floyd 
McDonald, . the Applicant •s expert witness on firearms and 
ball isti~&:~concluced that the weapon depicted in State's Exhibit 
17 could not have been the weapon· that fired the fatal shot in 
this case because a Ru~er style revolver has six •1ands and 
grooves" and the bullet that killed the decedent had ei~ht •1ands 
and ~rooves.• 

10. McDona1a•s conclusion is consistent with the fact that __ 
1.:laerson 's co;;;p.:t er search to determine what weapons could have 
fired the fatal shot did r.'">t include the Ruger he had identified 
as Stat~~i Zxhibit 17 at the Applicant's trial. 

,:,,, 
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11. A.lt •. ..,,u~n he.ultimately a~reed '-'~th Ancerson's testimony 
at the Appl leant' s tr1a l, McDonald pointed out that it would be 
extrE'mely difficult to determine from a sice view alone "11-:ether 
State's Exhibit 17 ~as a .22 or a .357 calibe: weapon. 

12.- After YounQ picked State's Exhibit 17 O'Ut of the 
photofraphic array, she ~as asked by Kyles if •he knew the type 
~nd caliber of the weapon she had just identified as having been 
csed by t~e Applicant. 

13. ln response to Kyles• inquiry. Young stateod that the 
~eapon the Applicant pcssE'ssed during the corr.mission of the 
pri::-.a:-y offe::se ~as a •1a:rge caliber \o:eapon, either a .38 or .357 
caliber,• and that she •knew it was larger than a .22 caliber.• 

14. The state~ents Young ~ace in the presence of Kyles and 
J~ckson were ~eworialized in a docu~ent styled "Scpple~entary 
Offense Report" and which was ac~itted at tr.e evicentiary r.earing 
as Applicant's Exhibit 49. 

15. On February 25, 1985, the trial court grante-d that 
portion of defense counsel's Motion for Discovery and Inspection 
which sought, inter alia. "J...ny evicence or information in the 
pcssession or control of the State of Texas or kno~n to the a~ents 
of the State which is inconsistent with the guilt of the 
Defendant, or ~hich might tend to a.meliorate the pun1sf.ment of the 
Defendant in the event of a finding of gu1It. 0 (.Ei'.phas1s accea). 

16. At the .. evidentiary r.earing, Ron Mock initially 
testified that the pros~cution never provided him with a copy of 
Applicant's Exhibit 49 prior to trial. 

17. Mock noted that it woulc have been extremely helpful to 
have had Applicant•s Exhibit 49 at the Applicant's trial as it not 
only would have \:Seful fo_r_ purposes of ilf.peaching Youns;, but to 
~enerally discredit the State's"theory of-, tlle-ca~e. 

18. Mock also note-d that the contents of Applicant's 
Exhibit 49 would have been helpful during the punisr..ment stage of 
the Applicant'& trial in convincing the jury that the third 
special issue should be ar.s~ered in the negative. 

19. After testifying that he might hav~ seen Applicant• s 
Exhibit 49 if it was in the State's fil~. Mock again r~affirmed 
his earlier testimony that he had never seen the exhibit before 
aC."1li ttJng that the passage of time made it possible that he was 
si~ply unable to re~ember if in fact he had ever seen it. 

20. Refardless of wl";ether or not Mock had seen Applicant•• 
Exhibit 49, the record of the Applicant's trial reveals that-Hock 
never ~ade use of it during his cross-exa~ination of Young or at 
~~y other ti~e during the proceeding~ 

2~. ~eithe: does the record at the Applicant's trial 
c:ff:irr..at1vely reflect that Mock E'ither askea for or was ft;.rnished 
with a copy of hpplicant's Exhibit 49. 
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17. Mock noted that it would have been extremely helpful to 
have had Applicant's Exhibit 49 at the Applicant's trial as it not 
only would have useful for purposes of impeaching Young, but to 
generally discredit the State's theory of the case. 

18. Mock also noted that the contents of Applicant• s 
Exhibit 49 would have been helpful during the punishment stage of 
the Applicant's trial in convincing the jury that the third 
special issue should be answered in the negative. 

19. After testifying that he might have seen Applicant• s 
Exhibit 49 if it was in the State's file, Mock again reaffirmed 
his eArlier testimony that he had never seen the exhibit before 
admitting that the passage of time made it possible that he was 
simply unable to remember if in fact he had ever seen it. 

20. Regardless of wh~ther or not Mock had seen Applicant's 
Exhibit 49, the record of the Applicant's trial reveals that Mock 
never made use of it during his cross-examination of Young or at 
any.other time during the proceedings 

21. Neither does the record at the Applicant's trial 
affirmatively reflect that Mock either asked for or was furnished 
with a copy of Applicant's Exhibit 49. 

22. Had the Sta.te furnished Mock with a copy of Applicant's 
Exhibit 49 or had Mock obtained due diligence to obtain it as a 
prior statement of the witness during his cross-examination of 
Young, he would have been able to elicit before the jury the fact 
that only one cowboy style gun had been included in the array as 
well as the difficulty in distinguishing between Ruger style .22 
and • 357 caliber weapons based solely on a side view· in·- a ... 
photograph. 

23. Had Mock been furnished wfth that testimony from the 
Henry trial that moments after the . primary offense, Young had 
identified Alton Dickey's .357 pistol as the type of weapon the 
AppUcant had used, he would have been able to elicit before the 
jury that such.an identification was infinitely more reliable than 
that obtained' from the photographic array viewed by Young and 
memorialized in Applicant's Exhibit 49. 

24;-·Rad the State furnished Mock with a copy of Applicant's 
Exhibit 49 or had Mock exercised due diligence in obtaining it, he 
would have been able to use it to elicit before·the jury, either 
through cross-examination of Anderson or through his own expert 
witness,· that the weapon portrayed in State's Exhibit 17 could not 
have fired· the fatal .22 caliber shot, a critical fact that Mock 
never made the jury aware of during the Applicant's trial. 

68 
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XIII. THE UNCONSTITUT!ONALlTY OP THE SYSTEM FOR THE APPOilrl'MEN'l' 
OF COUNSEL FOR INDIGENT DEFENDANTS IN HARRIS COO'N'I'Y · 

FINDINGS OF FACT 

1. The s}·stem for the appointment of counsPiror indigent 
defendants in Harris County pursuant to Article 26.04, V.A.c.c.P. 
did not irrpost!' any uni form minimum standards of competency fo; 
appointed counsel and did not ~rr.pose any restrictions on the 
volur::e of cases appoint~d counseil could handle. 

2. Because the system for the appointment of counsel for 
indigent defendants in Harris County is largely, if not 
exclusively an arbitrary decision ar.d unrevie~able decision made by 
each of the individual crir::inal cistrict judges, the quality of 

.cppointed trial counsel in capital rnurcer cases is a function of 
wr.atever district court to which the case is assigned at random. 

3. At the tirne of the Applicant's trial, defense counsel 
we:-e co::-.pensated only for actual court appearances and were not 
directly co~pensated for out-of-court time devoted to activities 
such as factual i~vestigation of the case, legal research 
re~arding the controlling issues, or consultation with experts. 

CONCLUSIONS OF LAW 

l. ~here a defendant seeks to challenge 
constitutionality of a statute1 he assurnes the burden 
demonstrating how he, in particular. ~as been harmed by 
statute. Clark v. State, 665 S.W.2d 476 (Tex.Crim.App. 1984). 

the 
of 

the 

2. In a post-conviction writ proceeding where the 
applicant seeks habeas corpus relief, neither the trial court nor 
the Court of Criminal ~ppeals is authorized to enter a declaratory 
judg~ent, but Uiay only inquire into the legality of the 
applicant's restraint or confinement.. Ex parte Herring, 271 
S.W.~d 657 (Tex.Crim.App. 1954). 

3. While many thin;s about the system of appointing 
counsel for indigent defendants in capital murder cases in Harris 
County a.ay be in need of change, the Court concludes that the 
relief which the Applica~t seeks must be sought in a civil rights 
suit, see Preisser v. RoddgiJez, 411 U.S. 475 (1973), and not in a 
post-conviction writ proceecing such as this. See Ex parte 
Brager, 704 S.W.2d 46 (Tex.Crim.App. 1986). ----

4. In seeking habeas corpus relief~ the Applicant assumes 
the burd•n of proving his factual allegations by ~ preponderance 
of the evidence. Ex parte Salinas, supra. -·- _ __.;_,_ -

s-. Because the Applicant has failed -to demonstrate by a 
pr~ponde~ance of the evidence that the allege~ unconstitutionality 
of the sy.stem by which counsel for indigent def end ants. in Harris 
County are appointed is a claim upon which habeas corpus relief 
r.iay be grar.ted, the Court recom:nends that habeas corpus relief as 
to this ground be DENIED. 

.. ..... 3 
J ' 
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May 12, 1997 

BY TELECOPY & FEDERAL EXPRESS 
Governor George W. Bush 
P.O. Box 12428 
Austin, Texas 78711 

Re: Supplement to Emergency Request for Reprieve of Death Sentence for Anthony 
Ray Westley 

Dear Governor Bush: 

Enclosed for your review and consideration is a supplement to the emergency request 
for a reprieve of a death sentence that is scheduled to be carried out at 6:00 p.m. tomorrow, 
May 13, 1997. This supplement includes affidavits from the witnesses who spoke with John Dale 
Henry in a tape recorded telephone conversation at approximately 12: 20 a. m. this morning, in which 
Henry confessed to shooting the man that Westley is slated to be executed for killing. 

In addition to the other newly-discovered evidence of Mr. Westley's innocence that has not 
yet been considered by the Texas Board of Pardons & Paroles, this recent tape recorded confession 
constitutes powerful evidence that the State is scheduled to execute the wrong man this evening. 

Mr. Westley's case presents you with both the responsibility and opportunity to affirm one 
of the essential tenets of our legal system -- that no individual shall be put to death by the State, 
without first exhausting all legal avenues available to demonstrate his innocence. To uphold that 
cherished principle, I humbly request that you give the enclosed request your considered attention 
and grant Mr. Westley a thirty day reprieve so that the Texas Board of Pardons & Paroles may 
consider this newly-obtained evidence of Mr. Westley's actual innocence. 

Should the Governor of a great State like Texas do less than that, one reasonably expect that 
when the public at large and responsible members of the bench and Bar listen to John Dale Henry's 
tape recorded confession and reffect on the fact that no Texas state official did anything to assure 
that evidence could be thoughtfully developed and considered before Westley was put do death -­
public respect for this State and its public officials will be, and rightfully should be, diminished. 

Thank you in advance for your thoughtful consideration of this request. 

Very truly yours, 

Barry Abrams 
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HONORABLE GOVERNOR GEORGE BUSH 

ANTHONY RAY WESTLEY, 
Applicant 

SUPPLEMENT TO EMERGENCY REQUEST 

FOR REPRIEVE OF DEATH SENTENCE 

Anthony Ray Westley ("Westley") is currently confined on death row by the Texas 

Department of Criminal Justice and is SCHEDULED FOR EXECUTION TODAY, MAY 13TH, 

1997, AFTER 6:00 P .M. C.S. T. Last night, Westley telecopied his emergency request for reprieve 

of death Westley seeks a reprieve to allow him the opportunity to present to the Texas Board of 

Pardons & Paroles the recently-obtained evidence that he is innocent of the murder for which is set 

to die. 

As set out in Westley's emergency reprieve request, Westley's claim of actual innocence is 

grounded on newly discovered evidence of a confession by John Dale Henry ("Henry"), that he, and 

not Westley, actually fired the fatal .22 caliber bullet into the back of Frank Hall ("Hall"), the bait 

store owner who died during the robbery in question. This supplement has been filed to alert the 

Governor to the discovery early this morning of additional compelling evidence of Westley's 

actual innocence of the murder. At approximately 12:20 a.m. to 1 :20 a.m. this morning, May 13, 

1997 -- counsel obtained a tape recorded statement by John Dale Henry in which he directly 

admits that: 

(a) he shot Frank Chester Hall; Westley did not shoot Hall; 

(b) he, Henry, had a .22 caliber pistol, and Westley had a .357 caliber 
pistol during the robbery in which Hall was killed; and 
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 (c) Westley did not have a .22 caliber pistol during the robbery in 

which Hall was killed. 

See Attached Affidavits of Barry Abrams & Marie Walker. After so confessing, Henry then stated 

to two other persons that although he would not confess to them on the telephone that he had 

murdered Hall, he had earlier told Martha Dunbar "the truth" and that he would tell them the truth 

about who shot Hall in person -- but would not do so over the telephone. See attached Affidavits of 

Marie Walker and Tressa Walker. Henry also has confirmed to his own daughter that Westley did 

not have a .22 caliber pistol during the robbery in which Hall was killed by a .22 caliber bullet. See 

attached affidavit of Domonike Dunbar. 

In light of Henry's newly-discovered confession that he, not Westley, killed Hall - a 

confession fully corroborated by compelling proof adduced in the first habeas proceedings that 

Westley did not fire the weapon that killed Hall - it is beyond cavil that, but for the constitutional 

errors committed at Westley's trial, no rational juror could have found him guilty of capital murder 

beyond a reasonable doubt and no rational juror could have answered in the State's favor the special 

issues on whether Westley deliberately killed Hall, a finding necessary to qualify Westley for the 

death penalty under Texas law. 

CONCLUSION 

The prosecutor, defense counsel and state trial judge in Westley's capital murder trial each 

agreed that resolution of the triggerman issue in his case was determinative of whether Westley 

would live or die. A state special master, the state trial judge who presided over Westley's capital 

murder trial, a federal magistrate, and a distinguished federal appellate judge have each concluded 

that the integrity of that trial was irreparably compromised by the deficiencies of Westley's trial 

2 
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 counsel and the accompanying misconduct by the state prosecution. 

Westley's counsel implores the Governor to review the newly-discovered evidence of John 

Dale Henry's confession to the murder for which Westley is slated for execution along with the 

extensive state court fact findings from Westley's habeas corpus hearing and, if that review leaves 

the Governor with the same grave doubt about the fairness of Westley's trial that was experienced 

by eight of the state and federal judges who have previously reviewed Westley's case, then 

Westley requests that the Governor impart justice and exhibit mercy, by granting him a thirty day 

reprieve so that the Board of Pardons & Paroles may consider the newly-discovered of Westley's 

actual innocence. 

OF COUNSEL: 

ABRAMS SCOTT & BICKLEY, L.L.P. 

Robert Scott 
600 Travis, Suite 6601 
Houston, Texas 77002 
(713) 228-6601 
(713) 228-6605 (Fax) 

Respectfully submitted, 

3 
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 ALLISON & SHOEMAKER, L.L.P. 

William B. Allison 
7700 San Felipe, Suite 480 
Houston, Texas 77063 
(281) 290-9350 
(281) 290-9625 (Fax) 

Deborah Bagg Gee 
1703 Lake Arbor Drive 
El Lago, Texas 77586 
(713) 326-2607 

4 



This document is housed in the Capital Punishment Clemency Petitions (APAP-214) collection in the M.E. Grenander 
Department of Special Collections and Archives, University Libraries, University at Albany, SUNY. 
 
 
 AFFIDAVIT OF BARRY ABRAMS 

THE STATE OF TEXAS § 
§ 

COUNTY OF HARRIS § 

BEFORE ME, the undersigned authority, on this day personally appeared Barry Abrams who, being by me duly 
sworn, deposed as follows: 

1. My name is Barry Abrams. I am over eighteen years old, of sound mind, capable of making this Affidavit, 
have personal knowledge of all of the facts stated in this Affidavit, and the facts are all true and correct. 

2. I am one of the volunteer lawyers who has represented Anthony Ray Westley during post-conviction 
proceedings since 1989. I am an honors graduate of Princeton University and the University of Texas Law 
School. I am a licensed lawyer in the State of Texas and have been admitted to practice before the United 
States Supreme Court, the United States Courts of Appeals for the Fifth, Ninth and Eleventh Circuits, and 
the United States District Courts for the Southern, Northern, Eastern and Western Districts of Texas and 
the Northern District of California. I formerly served as a judicial clerk for the Honorable Joseph T. 
Sneed, United States Circuit Judge for the Ninth Circuit Court of Appeals. 

3. Approximately two and one half weeks ago, I was contacted by Martha Walker Dunbar, who informed me 
that she knew Lee Edward ("Tyrone") Dunbar, John Dale Henry and Anthony Ray Westley in 1984; in 
1984 she was married to Tyrone Dunbar; and that at the time of Tyrone's death in April 1984, she was 
pregnant with a child fathered by John Dale Henry. Mrs. Dunbar told me that she then knew Anthony Ray 
Westley, because he was a friend of John Dale Henry's sister. 

4. Mrs. Dunbar also informed me that she knew that in April 1984, her husband Tyrone owned a .25 caliber 
automatic pistol, John Dale Henry owned a .22 caliber pistol and Anthony Ray Westley owned a .357 
caliber pistol. 

5. Mrs. Dunbar further informed me that: John Dale Henry had recently been released on parole from his 
earlier conviction for the aggravated robbery that took place in April 1984; since being paroled in the last 
several months, John Dale Henry had gotten in touch with her with the request to visit his daughter -- the 
child that she was then pregnant with in April 1984; during her conversations with Henry since the time 
of his recent parole, Henry had told her on several different times that he, not Anthony Ray Westley, had 
shot Frank Chester Hall; John Dale Henry has told her that he shot Frank Chester Hall in the back and that 
Mr. Hall then turned and shot him (Henry); and John Dale Henry had specifically told her that he (Henry) 
killed Mr. Hall and that Anthony Ray Westley did not do so. 

6. When informed of this newly-discovered evidence of Anthony Ray Westley's actual innocence of killing 
Mr. Hall, I immediately retained a private investigator to assist in attempts to document Mr. Henry's 
admissions on tape for use in these proceedings. Between the date of my first contact with Mrs. Dunbar 
and May 6, 1997, Mr. Henry did not speak with Mrs. Dunbar about the April 1984 incident. In view of 
Anthony Ray Westley's upcoming May 13, 1997 execution date, I secured the May 6, 1997 affidavit from 
Mrs.Dunbar that was used to support Mr. Westley's initial request for stay and second habeas application 
that was filed on May 9, 1997. Diligent efforts to further document Mr. Henry's admission to shooting Mr. 
Hall have continued on a constant basis since that time. 

7. At approximatelyJO:OO p.m. last night, May 12, 1997, I was informed that Mr. Henry had agreed to call 
Mrs. Dunbar and to speak with various of her children shortly after midnight on May 13, 1997 -- the day 
on which Mr. Westley is scheduled to be executed. At,approximately 2:00 a.m. this morning, May 13, 
1997, I was informed that Mr. Henry had telephoned Mrs. Dunbar and that during that tape recorded 
conversation with various of her children, he had in fact again admitted that he shot Mr. Hall during the 
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 April 1984 incident, 

8. I have in my possession the audiotape recording containing the May 13, 1997 conversations between John 
Dale Henry and Martha Dunbar, Marie Walker, Tressa Walker, Louise Walker and his <laugher, Domonike 
Dunbar. The audiotape recording in my possession is the tape recording referred to in the affidavits that 
have now been provided my Marie Walker, Tressa Walker and Domonike Dunbar. 

9. I have been informed that the various witnesses mentioned in this affidavit have contacted me because 
they do not want to see an innocent man executed (Westley) for a murder that he did not commit, while 
the guilty man walks free (Henry). 

Further, Affiant saith not. 

Barry Abrams 

SUBSCRIBED AND SWORN TO BEFORE ME on April 10, 2001. 

Notary Public in and for The 
State of T E X A S 
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 EXPARTE 

ANTHONY RAY WESTLEY, 

APPLICANT 

THE STATE OF TEXAS § 
§ 

COUNTY OF HARRIS § 

NO. 401695-B 

§ 
§ 
§ 
§ 
§ 

IN THE DISTRICT COURT OF 

HARRIS COUNTY, TEXAS 

339TH JUDICIAL DISTRICT 

AFFIDAVIT OF MARIE WALKER 

BEFORE ME, the undersigned authority, on this day personally appeared Marie Walker who, being by me duly 
sworn, deposed as follows: 

1. My name is Marie Walker. I am over eighteen years old, of sound mind, capable of making this Affidavit, 
have personal knowledge of all of the facts stated in this Affidavit, and the facts are all true and correct. 

2. John Dale Henry has recently been released on parole from his earlier conviction for the aggravated 
robbery that took place in April 1984 when my stepfather, Tyrone Dunbar, was killed. I understand that 
Anthony Ray Westley was convicted of capital murder for the death of a Mr. Frank Chester Hall, who was 
shot and killed during the April 1984 robbery in which my stepfather was killed. 

3. At approximately 12:20 a.m. on May 13, 1997, John Dale Henry telephoned my mother, Martha Walker­
Dunbar, and then spoke to me personally about the events that took place during the April 1984 incident 
in which Mr. Hall was killed. My conversation with John Dale Henry was tape recorded. I have provided 
the tape recording of my conversation to Anthony Ray Westley's lawyers. 

4. As is reflected in the tape recording of our conversation this morning, John Dale Henry specifically told 
me at the beginning of our conversation that Frank Chester Hall shot him during the April 1984 incident 
and that "after he shot me, I shot him [Hall]." Henry said that during that incident, Anthony Ray Westley 
did not have a .22 caliber weapon but instead had a .357 caliber pistol. Henry also admitted that he had, 
and fired, a gun during the incident and claimed that he only fired one shot -- the shot he admits firing into 
Hall. 

5. Later in our conversation, Henry said that he did not want to incriminate himself on the telephone and 
therefore would not talk further on the telephone about his role in shooting Hall, but that we would do so 
in person at a later date. 

6. I also was on the telephone later during the conversation when my sister, Louise Walker, spoke with 
Henry. I heard Henry tell Louise that he wouldn't tell her on the telephone about who shot Hall but that 
he earlier had told "Mama" [Martha Walker Dunbar] "the truth." Henry also said that it had been "Hell" 
to be in prison, that he would kill to keep from going back to the prison and that he would not talk further 
on the telephone about who shot Hall. 

Further, Affiant saith not. 

Marie Walker 

SUBSCRIBED AND SWORN TO BEFORE ME on April 10, 2001. 

Notary Public in and for The 

··~ 
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May 12, 1997 

BY TELECOPY & FEDERAL EXPRESS 
Governor George W. Bush 
P.O. Box 12428 
Austin, Texas 78711 

Re: Emergency Request for Reprieve of Death Sentence for Anthony Ray 
Westley 

Dear Governor Bush: 

Enclosed for your review and consideration is an emergency request for a reprieve 
of a death sentence that is scheduled· to be carried out at 6:00 p.m. tomorrow, May 13, 
1997. This request for a reprieve is based on newly-discovered evidence of Mr. Westley's 
innocence in the form of a confession by another person, who has admitted that he committed 
the murder for which Mr. Westley is scheduled to be executed tomorrow night. I sincerely 
implore you and your staff to give this request the thoughtful and serious consideration that it 
deserves. 

Anthony Ray Westley, has been represented for the past nine :years by volunteer lawyers 
from several respected Texas law firms who responded to the call of the State Bar of Texas to 
provide pro bono representation to indigent inmates facing the death penalty. Before his 
untimely death from Lou Gehrig's disease, the Honorable Thomas Gibbs Gee, the respected 
retired Fifth Circuit Judge, served as lead counsel for Mr. Westley. 

Although his lawyers initially agreed to represent Mr. Westley out of a pure sense of 
professional obligation, our investigation uncovered the startling facts that Mr. Westley had 
both been denied effective assistance of counsel and the victim of prosecutorial misconduct. 
After a lengthy evidentiary hearing and the publication of more than one hundred pages of 
findings of fact and conclusions of law, the Judge of the court that originally convicted Mr. 
Westley of capital murder recommended that he be granted a new trial. Without discussion, the 
Texas Court of Criminal Appeals ignored that recommendation of the very court who had 
presided over his original trial. 

Thereafter, the respected United States Circuit Judge, Hal DeMoss, concluded that if 
the binding state court findings in this case did not establish prejudicial constitutional error, 
"there is no such animal" and "we should stop talking as ifthere is." Westley v. Johnson, 83 
F.3d 714, 729 (5th Cir. 1996)). The newly-discovered evidence of the confession by another 
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party demonstrates the profound "prejudice" that Westley suffered due to his counsel's failure 
to defend him adequately at trial and the "materiality" of the evidence suppressed by the 
State. 

Although the Texas Court of Criminal Appeals has been presented with the newly­
discovered evidence that someone other than Mr. Westley committed the murder for which he 
is about to be executed, that Court denied Mr. Westley's request for a stay at approximately 
3 :30 p.m. today-- again without offering any explanation for why the newly-uncovered evidence 
of Mr. Westley's actual innocence should not first be aired and thoughtfully considered before 
his life is extinguished. 

Before the State of Texas takes the life of one of its citizens, it is of fundamental 
importance that all available procedures for reviewing the fairness of that action first be 
exhausted. To do less creates an unacceptable risk that innocent men and women will be put 
to death, without the ability to avail themselves of all of the Constitutional safeguards that the 
people of this great State have put in place. 

Mr. Westley's case presents you with both the responsibility and opportunity to affirm 
one of the essential tenets of our legal system -- that no individual shall be put to death by the 
State, without first exhausting all legal avenues available to demonstrate his innocence. To 
uphold that cherished principle, I humbly request that you give the enclosed request your 
considered attention and grant Mr. Westley a thirty day reprieve. 

Thank you in advance for your thoughtful consideration of this request. 

Very truly yours, 

Barry Abrams 


